THE MILLER-THOMPSON ELECTION CONTEST

The history of congressional elections in Iowa?' records
nine contests? whiech have been carried into the House of
Representatives for adjudication.®? The first and in many
respects the most interesting of these contests was that of
Daniel F'. Miller (Whig) against Willham Thompson (Demo-
crat) growing out of the campaign and election of 1848 in
the First Congressional Distriet. It 1s the purpose of this
paper to review the history of that struggle.

lowa was about evenly divided, politically, between the
Democrats and the Whigs during the period from 1846 to
1854. Although defeated in the congressional campaigns of
1846 and 1847, the Whigs were nevertheless hopeful of elect-
ing their candidates 1n both districts in 1848. Solicitous
over the outcome of the campaign in the First Distriet, they
entered upon a crusade to secure the votes of the Mormons

1 For a history of congressional elections in Iowa prior to 1850 see the
writer’s articles in THE JowaA JOURNAL oF HISTORY AND Pornitics, Vol. X, pp.
463-502; Vol. XI, pp. 38-68.

2 The contested congressional elections whiech have been carried from Towa
into the House of Representatives for final adjudication are as follows: Daniel
F. Miller vs. William Thompson, Thirty-first Congress, 1849-1851; S. B. Black

vs. Augustus Hall, Thirty-fourth Congress, 1855-1857; Legrand Byington wvs.

William Vandever, Thirty-seventh Congress, 1861-1863; J. C. Holmes vs. John

I.. Wilson, Forty-sixth Congress, 1879-1881; John C. Cook vs. Marsena E. Cutts,
Forty-seventh Congress, 1881-1883 ; Benjamin T. Frederick vs. James Wilson,

|‘1rll'l"~.'-w-|;._:'hth f'nllj,_[l‘i-hk', l?f"'-‘"i:'*.'t—I""el‘--J'; 1"'1".']!1]{ Lol :ITH}r}u'“ V8. J. B. \‘t'v:nvr, I“--I"l}'-
ninth Congress, 1885-1887; William P. Hepburn v»s. William D. Jamieson,
Sixty-first Congress, 1909-1911; D. D. Murphy w»s. Gilbert N. Haugen, Sixty-
second Congress, 1911-1913. See Rowell’s Contested FElection Cases in the
House of Representatives, 1789-1901, for a brief historical and legal digest of
the first seven of these cases.

3 The Constitution of the United States provides that each house of Congress
‘‘shall be the judge of the elections, returns and qualifications of its own mem-

}-f_'*]‘“x. = Art i{_']t‘ ]r H:-E'T_iu]_l -:*
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who had settled temporarily on the western frontier of the
State.

A considerable number of Mormons we re at that time
sojourning at the town of [\dili sville (now Council Bluffs)
in Pottawattamie ( ounty.* The Kanesville district. how-
ever, had not been organized under the laws of Iowa for
ehwtum purposes when the campaign of 1848 was Inaugu-
rated. Indeed, the greater portion of the western half
Iowa had not been mwdmzu[ into counties prior to Ilw
August elections of that year.” 'That is to say, the counties
in the eastern portion of the State were or ganized first, As
the organization of counties proceeded, there remained un-
organized country lying to the west and varying from one
hundred to two hundred miles in extent. By a number of
acts passed by the Legislative Assemb ly of the Territory of
Iowa and by the General Asse mbly of the State of Towa. all
the country lying west of certain organized counties was
attached 'm such counties for revenue, election, and judicial
purposes, and the inhabitants of such attached countr y were
entitled to enjoy all the riechts and privileges of citizens of
the counties to which they were attached.

THE METHOD OF ORGANIZING ELE TION PRECINCTS

In accordance with this practice, an act was passed by the
Legislative Assembly on June 11, 1845, providing for the
organization of Kishkekosh (now Monroe) County. This
was one of the frontier counties of central Towa which were
bounded on the west by the unorganized counties of the
otate. The sixteenth section of this act provided that ““the
territory west of said county be, and the same is hereby

4 See Mr. Jacob Van der Zee’s article on The Mormon Trails m ITowa, in the
present 1ssue of THE TowA JOURNAL oF HISTORY AND POLITICS.

b See Garver's ff.r.w'ur.u of the Establishment of Counties in Towa 1im THE Towa
JOURNAL OF HisTOrRY AND Porirics, Vol. VI, Pp. 375-457. See especially Maps
[ to XV1I inclusive, pp. 441-457.
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attached to the county of Kishkekosh, for election, revenue
and judicial purposes.’’® By the seventeenth section of a
similar act approved on February 5, 1844, providing for the
organization of Mahaska County, the country west of Ma-
haska County was attached to that county for eleection,
revenue, and judicial purposes.” And on February 16, 1847,
the General Assembly of Iowa passed an act, the tenth sec-
tion of which provided that the country west of Dallas
County should be similarly attached to Dallas County.®

It is to be noted further that the elective franchise was
secured to the inhabitants of the western portion of Iowa by
an act of the Legislative Assembly approved on July 28,
1840, and by the State Constitution of 1846. The former
provided that ‘‘all the country that is at present, or may
hereafter be attached to any of the organized counties in the
Territory, be, and the same is hereby attached for revenue,
election and judiecial purposes, and the inhabitants thereof
shall be entitled to and enjoy all the rights and privileges of
the county or counties to which they are attached that they
would be entitled to were they citizens proper of some
organized county.’”’® The Constitution of 1846 provided
that ‘‘any country attached to any county for judicial pur-
poses, shall, unless otherwise provided tor, be considered as
forming part of such county for election purposes.’”*°

¢ Laws of Iowa, 1845, pp. 103-106. On January 19, 1846, an act was passed
by the Legislative Assembly changing the name of this county from Kishkekosh
to Monroe.— Laws of Iowa, 1845-1846, p. 108.

7 Laws of ITowa, 1843-1844, pp. 85-89.

8 Laws of Iowa, 1846-1847, pp. 63—66.

9 Laws of Iowa, Extra Session, 1840, p. 15. The Constitution of 1846 provid-
ed that ‘¢ All the laws now in force in this Territory, which are not repugnant to
this constitution, shall remain in force until they expire by their own limitations,
or be altered or repealed by the General Assembly of this State.’’— Article

XIII, Section 2, quoted from Shambaugh’s Documentary Material Relating to
the History of Iowa, Vol. I, p. 208.

10 Constitution of Towa (1846), Article X111, Section 7, quoted from Sham-
baugh’s Documentary Material Relating to the History of Iowa, Vol. I, p. 210.

- -



THE MILLER-THOMPSON CONTEST 97

But in what manner was the elective franchise of those
resident in this attached country to be exercised? The
Constitution of 1846 provided that ‘‘every white male citizen
of the United States, of the age of twenty-one years, who
shall have been a resident of the State six months next pre-
ceding the election, and the county in which he claims his
vote twenty days, shall be entitled to vote at all elections
which are now or hereafter may be authorized by law.’’11
But how were places for holding elections within the country
thus attached to organized counties to be provided?

An examination of the laws of Towa prior to 1848 shows
that the Boards of County Commissioners of the various
counties to which unorganized te rritory was attached were
empowered to organize such territory for election purposes.
Three of these laws deserve special mention as hea ring upon
the later organization of Kanesville into an election pre-
cinet: (1) an act providing for the organization of town-
ships, approved on February 17, 1842, the first section of
which authorized the Boards of County Commissioners to
divide counties into townships and to designate the places
where the first meeting of the electors should be held:

11 Constitution of Iowa (1846), Article ITI, Section 1. quoted from Sham-
baugh’s Documentary Material Relating to the History of Iowa, Vol. I, p. 194,

12 Laws of Towa, 1841-1842, pp. 97-103.

13 This section provided ‘‘That the board of county eommissioners in each
county, not yet divided into Townships, shall as soon as they are of the opinion
that a majority of the people of the county desire it, proceed to divide the
county into townships in the following manner: They shall divide the county
1nto townships of such shape and size as the convenience and interests of the
citizens may require, confer upon each township the name preferred by the
inhabitants of the same, and appoint the place where the first meeting of the
electors shall be holden. The clerk of the said board shall record the name of
each township, the time when it was set off. and a particular deseription of its
boundaries.’’

This provision of the act of February 17, 1842, was finally repealed by the act
of January 21, 1847, which superseded it. A complete copy of the act of
Fr*hrlmr}' 17, 1842. providing for the organization of townships may also be
found in Shambaugh’s Documentary Material Eelating to the History of Iowa,
Vol. ITI, pp. 253-262.




38 ITOWA JOURNAL OF HISTORY AND POLITICS

(2) ‘““An Aet providing for and regulating general elec-
tions’’, which went into effect on July 1, 1843,'* and by which
the Boards of County Commissioners were required ‘‘at
their regular annual session in July preceding the general
election, where the counties are not organized into town-
ships’’, to ‘“‘appoint three capable and discreet persons,
possessing the qualifications of electors, to act as judges of
the election, at any election preecinet’’; and (3) an act ap-
proved on January 21, 1847, containing the following pro-
VISIONS :

That the Board of Commissioners of each county, which shall
not be divided into townships when this act takes effect, and of each
county to which any county or counties, not so divided, shall at that
time be attached for election and judicial purposes, shall, at any
regular or called session, as early as practicable, divide such attached
county or counties, into townships of size and shape most con-
venilent to the inhabitants; giving to each such name as the inhabit-
ants thereof may prefer, and shall appoint a central and convenient
place in each township, for holding the first township election; and
the Clerk of the Board shall record the name of each township, with
a particular deseription of 1ts boundaries; and every county after-
wards established, or organized, shall be divided into townships, in
like manner, at any regular or called session of the Board of Com-
missioners thereof, or of the county to whiech the same may be
attached.®

THE ORGANIZATION OF THE KANESVILLE PRECINCT

It is evident, therefore, that a method was provided by
law for the immediate organization of Kanesville for elee-
tion purposes 1n order that the Mormons resident in that
vieinity might participate in the general election of 1848.
Such organization the Whig campaign managers proceeded
to accomplish 1n the opening weeks of the campaign.

In this connection *attention should be called to the fact

14 Revised Statutes of the Territory of Iowa, 1842-1843, pp. 244-256.

15 Laws of lowa, 1846-1847, p. 29
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that Pottawattamie County had already been established
prior to the campaign of 1848. On February 24, 1847, the
General Assembly of Towa passed an act entitled ‘ An Aet
for the organization of Pottawatamie® and other counties’’.
T'he act was, however, very general in character. in that it
merely preseribed a method for the organization of Potta-
wattamie and other counties, although it named and dealt
specifically only with Pottawattamie County. This aet pro-
vided simply that ‘“‘the country embraced within the limits
of what is called the Pottawatamie purchase, on the waters
of the Missouri river, in this State, be, and the same may be,
temporarily organized into a county, by the name of Potta-
watamie, at any time when, in the opinion of the judge of
the fourth judieial district, the public good may require such
organization.’”’'” Although the boundaries of the Potta-
wattamie Purchase,'® which by the above act became also
the boundaries of Pottawattamie County, were not definitely
prescribed, the country included within the newly created
county of Pottawattamie embraced the greater portion of
southwestern lowa.

While an attempt was made in the early part of the cam-
paign of 1848 to secure an order from the Judee of the
Fourth Judicial Distriet authorizing the organization of
Pottawattamie County,'® this county was not actually organ-

16 This is the spelling found in the act.

17 Laws of ITowa, 1846-1847, pp. 115, 1186.

18 The date of this purchase is June 5 and 17, 1846. The territory thus ceded
included all the lands claimed by the Pottawattamie Indians in Towa.— See
Kappler’s Indian Affairs, Laws and Treaties, Vol. 11, pp. 007—560, See also
Garver’s map deseriptive of this cession in his History of the Establishment of
Counties mn Iowa in THE IowA JOURNAL OF HIisTORY AND Porirtics, Vol VI P.

290,

19 Flor an account of the establishment and organization of Pottawattamie
County see Garver’s History of the Establishment of Counties in Iowa in THE
IowA JourNAL oF HisTORY AND Povrrrics, Vol. VI, pp. 411-416.
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1zed until September 28, 1848.2° In the meantime, Potta-
wattamie County remained an unorganized county and as
such was, under the laws of Iowa, attached to the organized
counties to the east for election, revenue, and judicial pur-
poses, and was subject to division into townships for elec-
tion and other purposes by the Boards of Commissioners of
the respective counties to which the country included within
Pottawattamie County was attached.

FKarly 1n the summer of 1848, Fitz Henry Warren, chair-
man of the Whig State Executive Committee and also
treasurer of the National Committee, had a conference with
William Pickett, traveling agent for the St. Louis Repub-
lican, the leading Mormon paper in Missouri.?! Nothing
definite 1s known as to the subjects actually discussed at this
conference; but in the light of later developments it is
evident that the object of this meeting was the consideration
of the Mormon vote in the ensuing election. Arrangements
were entered into whereby Pickett was to secure the organ-
1ization of Kanesville for election purposes. This object
Pickett at once proceeded to accomplish.

Immediately after the conference with Warren, Pickett
set out for Kanesville, arriving there about the 20th of
May.** The Mormons, anxious to secure a township organ-
1zation for local government purposes, were persuaded to

20 This 1s the date given by Garver in his History of the Establishment of
Counties wn Iowa in THE lowa JOURNAL OF HISTORY AND Porrrics, Vol. VI, p.
412,

21 The writer has been unable to determine the exact time and place of this
conference. It is probable, however, that it was held in Burlington some time
during the month of May. This conclusion is based on newspaper reports of the
period and on House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, 1849-

1850, Document No. 47,

22 Testimony of Evan M. Greene, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents.
1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 36. Greene was one of the
clerks of the election held at Kanesville on All;—_;‘llﬁt 7, 1848, and later was ap-
pointed postmaster at that place. Greene testified that Pickett ‘‘came here
about the 20th of May.”’

R S
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circulate a petition praying for such organization. Pre-
suming, evidently, that Kanesville lay directly west of
Monroe County, the following petition, signed by a number
of Kanesville residents and dated June 12th, was addressed
to the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County:

We, the undersigned, citizens residing near Council Bluffs. in the
State of Iowa, ask your honors to grant us a township for the pur-
pose of electing two justices of the peace and constables, as we labor
under so much disadvantage from the want of legal authority in our
midst, not having legal authority among us to authenticate an
instrument in our necessary dealings and conveyances, or to take
proper cognizance of those violating the law.

The election may be held at the council-house. in the village of
Kanesville, and Charles Bird. Henry Miller, and William Hunting-
ton would be suitable men to act as judges of said election.23

Armed with this document, Pickett went to Monroe Coun-
ty; but before presenting it to the Board of Commissioners
of that county he called at the home of James P, Carleton,
Judge of the Fourth Judicial District. Pickett informed
Carleton that he had brought a petition from Pottawattamie
County asking for the appointment of an organizing Sheriff
for that county2‘— hoping, apparently, for an appointment

23 This petition was included in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session,
31st Congress, Document No. 47. p. 4. The Clerk of Monroe County certified
on October 26, 1848, that this was ‘“a true copy of all the petition there is in
the office at this time’’,

2% Testimony of Judge Carleton given at Iowa City on March 6, 1850, printed
in House Miscellaneous Docu ments, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47.
p. 120. The writer doubts whether Pickett did in faet have in his possession
such a petition. Judge Carleton did not say that he saw the petition in question
but that Pickett ‘‘ecame to my house with a petition signed by a number of per-
Sons, representing that he and the petition were both from Pottawattamie
county, the petition praying for the appointment of an organizing sheriff for
said county.”’ Carleton stated that he refused to appoint Pickett on the ground
that he had already appointed a Mr. Townsend for that purpose. Townsend did
not, however, effect an organization for Pottawattamie County, a faet for which
1t 18 difficult to offer an explanation except perhaps that Townsend. who was 2
Democrat, felt certain the inhabitants of Pottawattamie County would support
the Whig ticket and that therefore it was politically expedient to postpone the
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whereby he would be able to organize Pottawattamie County
independently. Carleton, however, refused to make the de-
sired appointment. Defeated in this plan, Pickett went to
Albia, the county seat of Monroe County and presented the
same document to the Board of Commissioners. No one else
being present at the time who knew anything about the

location of Kanesville, Pickett explained that he believed

Kanesville to be due west of Monroe County.?® The Board
of Commissioners thereupon issued, under date of July 3rd,
an order granting the request set forth in the petition.

Ordered by the board of commissioners of the county of Monroe
and State of Iowa, that that portion of country ecalled Pottawatomie
county, which lies directly west of Monroe county, be organized into
a township, and that Kanesville be a precinet for election purposes
in sald township ; and that the election be held at the counecil-house
in said village, and that Charles Bird, Henry Miller, and William
Huntington be appointed judges of said election, and that the
boundaries of said township extend east as far as the East Nishna-
botna.?%

Pickett, appearing to be very anxious to reach Kanesville
in time to give the proper notices for holding the election,
the Clerk of Monroe County requested a man named Town-
send (who had accompanied Pickett to Albia) to prepare the

organization of that eounty. This was later charged against Townsend. What-
ever explanation may be given, it appears from the records examined that
Townsend advised Pickett to see Judge Carleton and in the event of his failing
to secure the appointment as organizing sheriff to proceed to Albia where the
Board of Commissioners of Monroe County was then in session. This Pickett
did, accompanied by Townsend, and he secured the order. As a matter of
interest, Judge Carleton did later appoint Pickett organizing sheriff for Potta-

".'L'Ilttilﬂlif‘ l'{l'[][]l'_'\,'. This :1I+]11|i,|][]”i’l'|[+ ]lll‘i."ut_”l.'t']'. Was not TTiEi‘It_" t1ll -Xll;-_:'tl"*t 28th —

three weeks after the general election. Pottawattamie County was organized on
September 28th — in time for the county to participate independently in the

presidential eleetion of 1848.
25 Testimony of William Townsend, printed in House Miscellaneous Docu-

ments, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 63, 64,
26 This order is iI'u'HI‘IH.*I‘IiIt"I in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session,

31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 4, o.
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“t)

notices which the Sheriff of Monroe County authorized
Pickett to post. Pickett lost no time in returning to Kanes-
ville, where he arrived some time during the early part of
July. The order of the Board of Commissioners of Monroe
County was duly executed ; and Pickett. during the remain-
Ing weeks of the campaign, ““used his utmost exertions in
favor of the election of Daniel Miller . . . and of the
Whig ticket generally.”’?” For these services Warren paid
Pickett the sum of one hundred and forty dollars.2®

EFFORTS OF THE WHIGS TO SECURE THE MORMON VOTE

In the meantime other agencies were employed by the
Whigs for the control of the Mormon vote in the ecoming
general election. On June 24th, Elder Orson Hyde, who
was the leader of the Mormons in Towa, left Kanesville for
the eastern part of the State2? Tt appears that Hyde had
two prineipal objects in view in undertaking this journey :
(1) a conference with Fitz Henry Warren concerning the
political situation and the measures necessary to insure a
Whig victory; and (2) the purchase of a printing press for
the purpose of establishing a newspaper at IKanesville.

Hyde arrived in Burlington in the first week of .J uly, and
had a conference with Warren. Although it is not known
definitely what arrangements were entered into between
these two men,® it is evident that a satisfactory agreement

27 Testimony of Evan M. Greene. printed in House Miscellaneous Documents.
1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 36.

28 Warren acknowledged the payment of one hundred and forty dollars to
Pickett for his services and traveling expenses, in a letter which appeared in the
ff”rf”.l.”f”” [IHH'.‘#.'!‘.._F.” 1’1,1' _\1]?_{’11-.'!’ ‘Iil, ].‘*-}H, F]w}]iH fi't!l'l' was [r]'i”li’ll 111 !{HH.\':

Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session. 31st Congress, Document No. 37, P. 00,

29 Testimony of Orson Hyde, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents. 1st
Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 45.

30 Leading Democratic newspapers later charged that Warren gave Hyde a
draft for one thousand dollars on Washington in return for the latter’s active
and open support of the Whig ticket. This alleged “‘eorrupt bargain’’ will be

considered in the following pages of this discussion.
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was reached, for immediately after the conference, Hyde
wrote a letter addressed to the Mormons in Iowa advising
them to support the Whig ticket. This interesting com-
munication reads as follows:

BurrLingTON, Towa, July 8, 1848.
Dear Friends and Brethren:—

It has seemed good to me, your brother and companion in tribu-
lation, and counsellor in the church of God, to advise and request
you to cast your votes at the ensuing election for the Whig candi-
dates for office. This letter is placed in the hands of Col. F. H.
Warren, who will give you or cause it to be done, all necessary
information, HOW AND WHERE TO ACT.

A due respect for our prosperity as a people and for the pros-
perity of the country at large, has influenced me to give you the
above counsel; and with 1t 1 give you the assurance of my hearty
good will, and an interest in my prayers that Heaven’s blessings
may rest upon you here, and that his glory may be your reward,
where the ‘‘wicked cease from troubling, and the weary are at rest.”’

Your brother in Christ,
OrsoN HypE.3!

The above letter was at once dispatched to all the Mormon
settlements in the State and it 1s reasonable to suppose that
it contributed in a considerable degree to the almost unani-
mous support of the Whig party by the Kanesville voters at
the ensuing election, for Orson Hyde was probably the most
influential person among the Mormons 1n lowa.??

31 This letter is quoted from the Keokuk Dispateh, Vol. I, No. 14, August 26,
1848. It was published also in the Iowa Democratic Enquirer (Bloomington),
Vol. I, No. 8, August 26, 1848. These two journals in furn copied the letter
from the ITowa State Gazette (Burlington), to whieh it was first sent.

Hyde admitted in his testimony given at Kanesville on March 19, 1850, that
he had written a letter while in Burlington 1n 1848 advising the Mormons to
vote the Whig ticket; that he left this letter with Mr. Warren; that he had not,
however, signed it as head of the Mormon Church but as a private individual;
and that he was ‘“quite willing’’ that they should ‘‘use it publicly or private-
l}'.”-— See House Miscellaneous Dm‘.‘iimtnf:\y 1st SL'.*QHEUI], S 1st {'Ungl‘i*is, Doen-
ment No. 47, p. 47.

32 Hyde later professed that he had known nothing of the organization of
Kanesville for election purposes at the time of his visit in Burlington. This is

m— ——
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It appears further that while in Burlington Hyde effected
an arrangement through which he secured the money for the
purchase of a printing press. Evidence as to the source of
this money is, however, vague and conflicting. While the
newspapers a few weeks later charged that Hyde had re-
ceived the money from the Whigs, Hyde himself testified
that he had ‘‘received letters from another source. not in
Towa that were a benefit to me, throngh which T effected a
loan of eight hundred dollars. With that money 1 pur-
chased in Cincinnati my press and type.”’**  While Hyde
did not deny outright that he received the money 1n question
from the Whigs, it can not be proved that he did obtain the
sum from that source. In short, while it is evident that
Hyde and Warren had an understanding with each other,
the question as to whether Hyde joined with Warren in an
alliance with money as the basis of the agreement is a
matter of speculation.

The activities of Orson Hyde after the above objects were
secured may be stated very briefly. Leaving Burlington
immediately after the publication of his letter to the Mor-
mons, he went to Cincinnati where he purchased his printing
press. It is probable that he went on to Washington, D. C.
No record, however, is to be found concerning his journey
from the time he left Burlington until he returned to Kanes-
probably true, for Hyde left Kanesville on June 24th — ten days before Pickett
secured the order from the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County author-
1zing the establishment of an election precinet at Kanesville — and arrived in
Burlington about the time that the above order was issued. But while Hyde
may not have known of the action taken by the Board of Commissioners of
Monroe County, he may nevertheless have anticipated such action, for he ac-
knowledged that he had conferred with Pickett when the latter was circulating
among the Mormons the petition which was later presented to the Board of
Commissioners of Monroe County. Again, Hyde admitted that he had met
Pickett when he (Hyde) was on his way to Burlington.— See testimony of Orson
Hyde, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress,

Doeument No. 47, p. 41.

88 Testimony of Orson Hyde, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st
Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 42,




46 IOWA JOURNAL OF HISTORY AND POLITICS

ville on October 20th — more than two months after the
general election and two weeks before the presidential eleec-
tion. Hyde at once installed his printing press and began
the publication of his newspaper, the Frontier Guardian.**

It 1s apparent, therefore, that Fitz Henry Warren, Orson
Hyde, and William Pickett were laboring energetically to
secure the Mormon vote at the general election of 1848 in
order to insure a Whig triumph at the polls. While these
influences were at work in behalf of the Whig candidates,
the leading Democratic newspapers began to scent what
they professed to regard a ‘“‘corrupt bargain’’ between the
Whig and Mormon leaders.

Two days before Orson Hyde issued his Burlington letter,
the editor of the Keokuk Dispatch wrote an editorial in
which he informed his readers that he had learned, while in
[owa City the week before, of ‘‘an arrangement’’ being
made whereby ‘‘a few thousand’’ Mormons were to be in-
corporated within ‘‘some of the organized counties, for the
purpose of voting the Whig ticket, in order, if possible, to
secure the Whig ticket in the State.”” These considerations
led the editor to observe that:

We would be the last to complain of the use of any honorable
means to acquire a vietory in a political struggle, but when we see a
party, or an individual, endeavoring to thwart the wishes of the
people of our State, by importing into our organized limits, a rem-
nant of a seect whose customs are so unlike those of a christian com-
munity that their presence, in a body, can nowhere be tolerated, and
that too when they have shown their disrecard of our institutions.
by refusing to organize and become subject to our laws, as they have
done, our 1ndignation becomes aroused to such an extent that we
scarcely dare trust ourselves to speak of the matter, lest we indulee
in the use of language unbecoming the columns of a newspaper.

In a short time the whole matter will manifest itself 35

> T“H“m“n}' of Orson .”-""]*" ]'””h"i in House Miscellaneous Jr,hu*r'fuh-,ah, 1st

Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 45.

35 Keokuk Dispatch, Vol. T, No. 7, July 6, 1848,
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And so 1t did, apparently, for just two weeks later, when
the congressional campaign was at its height (July 20th),
this same journal again called attention to the matter In the
following words:

Information of the most unquestionable character has been re-
ceived, that the leaders in the whig party in Towa are making every
effort to buy up the Mormon vote that is now sojourning on our
western borders and throughout the State. Pledges of every de-
mﬂﬁplhulthufThry4wn1hiuak hHTVIHWWlIHHdvflhwuTtrruh*lhﬂ “1“!
ticket. Missionaries and runners from the whig camp here have
been circulating to and from the head-quarters of the whig and
Mormon leaders that the Mormons are all pledged, as far as political
machinery can be made to influence them, to vote for D. F. Miller.
and the whig ticket. We are also assured by the Mormon leaders
the whig State Central Committee of Iowa have purchased a print-
Ing establishment, press, type, paper, &c., and made a present to the
Mormons, with an understanding that if Pottawattamie county

cannot be organized in time to enable them to vote at the
August election, they are to march in phalanx into the orcanized
counties, and some three thousand of them vote the whig ticket 36

THE CONGRESSIONAL CAMPAIGN OF 1848

The congressional campaign of 1848 was, during the
month of July, characterized by great earnestness and en-
thusiasm.*” Party lines were closely drawn and the Whigs
were determined to win at the general election, while the
Democrats were equally determined to retain their ascend-
ency. It was therefore to be expected that Whigs and
Demoecrats would carry the campaign into the Mormon
settlements. Indeed, the records show that the candidates
for State and national offices did considerable electioneering
in Kanesville during the closing weeks of the campaign.

Among the Demoecrats who went to Kanesville for elec-

86 Keokuk Dispatch, Vol, I, No. 9, July 20, 1848,

87 For an account of the congressional campaign and election of 1848, inelud

iH;,_{ d map Hlmnin;_r the congressional distriets, see the writer's article 1in THE

[owA JoURNAL oF HisTory AND PorITics, Vol. XI. pp. 38-68.
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tioneering purposes were Josiah H. Bonney of Van Buren
County, candidate for Secretary of State, and Dr. John
Selman of Davis County, candidate for State Senator.®®
William S. Townsend of Lucas County and George P. Stiles
of Van Buren County also journeyed thither to give active
support to the Democratic candidates.?® Kzra P. Cone, the
Democratic Sheriff of Monroe County, was present at the
polls in Kanesville on election day and electioneered ‘‘for
William Thompson and the Demoecratic ticket.”’** William
Thompson, too, made his appearance in that vicinity near
the close of the campaign and hastened away again to look
after his political fences in other quarters. Kinally, it
should be mentioned that the members of the Board of Com-
missioners of Monroe County were all Democrats and so
was the Clerk of that county, and that these officials all
‘“‘acted as the political friends and supporters of Hon.
William Thompson in the Congressional election of 1848,7741

The Whigs were no less determined to control the Mor-
mon vote in the coming election. Intense partisan zeal was
displayed by party managers and candidates. Willlam
Pickett made the final appeal to the Mormons to support the
Whig ticket. It is not known whether Daniel F'. Miller went

to Kanesville at any time during the campaign or not.

THE ELECTION AT KANESVILLE
The Kanesville polls were opened on Monday morning,
August 7th, the date of the general election. Charles Bird,

38 Testimony of George P. Stiles, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents,
1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 17, 18.

39 Testimony of George P. Stiles, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents,
1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 17, 18,

10 Admissions in reference to various matters, by William Thompson, printed
in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47,

p. 22.

11 Admissions of Thompson wn relation to the politics of the officers of Monroe
County, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress,

Document No. 47, p. 22.
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Henry Miller, and William Huntington, who had been ap-
pointed by the Board of Commissioners to act as judges of
the election, were duly sworn to serve in thaf capacity. The
clerks of the election were James Sloan and Evan M.
Greene.??

According to the testimony of witnesses, the election was
held in a legal and orderly manner.#* No special ineidents
or violence of any sort occurred. When the polls were
closed and the ballots counted, it was found that the Mor-
mons had cast almost a unanimous vote for Daniel F. Miller
and the other candidates on the Whig ticket. Out of a total
of 523 votes cast in the Kanesville precinet, Miller received
493 and Thompson 30. The other Whig candidates for
State and local offices received almost the same majorities.*?

The news of this overwhelming triumph of Daniel F.
Miller over William Thompson in the Kanesville precinet
was received with astonishment and chagrin by the Demo-
cratic leaders. In the first place, the Democrats had ap-
parently been hopeful of polling a substantial vote among
the Mormons. In the second place, it very soon became
evident that upon the Kanesville vote hung the issue as to
whether Thompson or Miller was to represent the First
Congressional Distriet in the Thirty-first Congress. Inter-
est, therefore, now centered at the county seat of Monroe
County to which place the Kanesville returns were brought
for final record.

THE REJECTION OF THE KANESVILLE POLL BOOK

It will be remembered that the Board of Commissioners
of Monroe County had organized Kanesville into an election

42 See House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document
No. 47, pp. 7, 8,

13 Testimony of Evan M. Greene, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents,
Ist Session, 31st Congress, Document No, 47, p. 37.

44 Official returns as printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session,

s18t Congress, Document No. 47, p. 5.
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precinet 1in the belief that the Kanesville distriet was in-
cluded 1in the unorganized territory attached to Monroe
County for election and other purposes. It therefore be-
came necessary to file the Kanesville poll book with the
Clerk of Monroe County, whose duty it was to include the
Kanesville returns in the abstract of votes to be forwarded
to the Secretary of State. Accordingly, James Sloan set
out immediately with the poll book in question for Albia,
where he arrived on Sunday evening, August 13th.*°

In the meantime it appears that leading Democrats were
determined that the Kanesville returns should not be re-
celved 1n case they should be found favorable to the Whigs.
The leading figure in this preconcerted plan was J. (. Hall,
the law-partner of Willham Thompson and later one of his
attorneys in the contested election. According to his own
contession, on the Wednesday preceding the election Hall
went to Montrose in L.ee County, where he had a conference
with Augustus Caesar Dodge and 1.. W. Babbitt. The sub-
ject of the conversation was the Mormon vote. At the elose
of the conference Hall came to the conclusion that ‘‘no
injury could arise from the vote of Garden Grove, in Ap-
panoose county, or Pisgah, in Monroe county’’; but he
seemed to think otherwise with reference to the Kanesville

vote, for 1t was his judgment that inasmuch as ‘‘ Kanesville
was north of Monroe county’’, the vote of that precinet
‘‘could not be legally received’’. Hall then told Dodge that
he would, as ‘‘the friend of Mr. Thompson’’, attend to that
matter.*®

Hall and Dodge left Montrose together on the same day
for Madison. While at that place Hall again discussed the
question of the Mormon vote in the presence of A. C. Dodge,

15 Testimony of J. C. Hall, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st
Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 24.

16 Testimony of J. C. Hall, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st

Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 29.
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Kd Johnson, J. C. Walker, and ex-Governor James (Clarke,
After presenting his own views, Hall suggested that he
would go to Albia and see to it that the Kanesville vote
should not be counted if they thought it advisable. They
all urged that he should go, ‘“‘expressing the unequivoeal
opinion that the vote would be illegal and fraudulent, and
that 1t ought, if possible, to be suppressed from the can-
vass.”” It seemed to be the impression that the Kanesville
vote would be given to the Whigs.*7

Hall then returned to Burlington, where he remained
until after the election. It is not known what conferences
he may have had at that place in this interval. On Thurs-
day following the election Hall left Burlington for Albia.
with the intention of being present when the returns of the
election were opened and of preventing the Kanesville vote
from being counted, on the ground that this vote was il-
legal and therefore void.*® In the meantime James Sloan
was on his way to Albia with the Kanesville poll book.

On the morning of August 14th the office of the Clerk of
Monroe County was the meeting-place of an anxious group
of politicians representing both parties, for this was the
day on which the returns were to be made, and the Whigs
were alarmed lest the Kanesville vote should be rejected :
while the Democrats feared that the vote would be received.
About thirty persons were present, among whom were
William Pickett (who had accompanied Sloan to Albia) and
J. C. Hall. Considerable discussion at onece took place as to
whether the Clerk (Dudley C. Barber) should receive the
Kanesville returns. Hall advised Barber not to receive
them, giving as his reason that the organization of the
Kanesville precinet by the Board of Commissioners of Mon

7 Testimony of J. C. Hall. printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1sf
Session, 31st Congress, Doeument No, 47, pp. 29, 26,
48 Testimony of J. C. Hall, ]Il‘il]lf_'t! in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st

Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 24,
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roe County was illegal, inasmuch as Kanesville was not
directly west of Monroe County and, therefore, was not in
the country attached to that county. Mr. Howell argued in
favor of their acceptance.*?

After a short time Sloan produced a sealed package which
he offered to Barber as the official returns of the Kanesville
precinet. Barber declined to receive the package, stating
that he was satisfied that the Kanesville precinet was not in
Monroe County, and that 1t was therefore not his duty to
receive the vote of that distriet. Sloan thereupon laid the
returns upon the Clerk’s table.

A heated discussion ensued. Finally, someone inquired
what should be done with the returns in question. Hall
replied: ‘““Sweep them out of doors — they are waste pa-
per.”” Pickett insisted that Barber had 1n fact received the
papers, but the latter replied: ‘I have not, and I am not
ooing to receive them’’. And he remained firm in his re-
fusal. Soon afterwards Hall and Pickett and the others left
the Clerk’s office. The Kanesville poll book was left lying
on the table.?®

In the afternoon Sloan went back to the Clerk’s office to
induce Barber to endorse the poll-book. Sloan explained
to him that he was going to start home the next morning
and that he was desirous of securing his pay. Barber went
to the table and took the poll book out from under some
newspapers where he had placed 1t, but put 1t back in the
same place without making any reply, whereupon Sloan left
the office.”?

19 Testimony of J. C. Hall, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st
Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 24. See also the testimony of
James Sloan, p. 68.

50 Testimony of J. C. Hall, printed in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st
Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 24, 25. See also the testimony of
James Sloan, p. 68,

51 Testimony of James Sloan, printed 1n House Miscellaneous Documents. 1st

Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 68.
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A few days later the editor of the Towa State Gazette
(Burlington) published an editorial in which he presented
in full the following reasons offered by Barber for rejecting
the Kanesville vote:

1. The country called Pottawattamie county, in which Kanesville
s situated, had been conditionally organized by an act of the Liegis-
lature, and the power of final organization given to the Judge of the
4th Judicial distriet.

2. That when Kishkekosh (now Monroe) county was organized.
Pottawattamie county was Indian country, and consequently not

attached by the organizing act — and that the subsequent acquisi-

tion of that country did not enlarge the boundaries of Monroe

county.
3. That the action of the Legislature in conditionally organizing

the Pottawattamie country into a county, as soon as the Indian title
was extinguished, showed that it was not reearded as being attached
to Monroe.

4. That, even admitting the country lying immediately west of

Monroe ecounty be attached to Monroe for election purposes, clear
through to Missouri river, there was no evidence in existence in the
absence of Government surveys, to show that Kanesville was west
of sald county ; but, on the contrary, the maps showed it to be north
of Monroe and west of Marion.
0. That the Commissioners of Monroe county had no authority
to organize an election precinet out of Monroe and the legally at-
tached counties; and that if they did so, it was the duty of the clerk
to treat 1t as a void act.

6. That it was his duty to know the legal geographical boun-
daries of his county, and that he could not receive returns coming
from any other place than Monroe county, or the legally attached
country,b2

THE RESULTS OF THE CONGRESSIONAL ELECTION
The returns from the various counties in the First Clon-

gressional Distriet came in slowly. Modern facilities for
rapid communication and transportation had not yet made

»'='.'{'Jnuh-r_] in the ITowa Democratic f','.-ruj,rrfar‘: r (Bloomington), Vol. I, No, 8.

August 26, 1848
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their appearance in Iowa and ordinary travel was sub-
jected to great inconveniences. Considerable delay was
therefore experienced in the transmission of the election
returns to the Board of Canvassers at lowa City. Finally,
however, on September 15th the Board of Canvassers, com-
posed of Ansel Briggs, Elisha Cutler, Jr., and Joseph T.
Fales, officially announced the votes cast by eounties in the
First Distriet.”?

The abstract showed that Wilham Thompson had re-
ceived 6477 votes; Daniel K. Miller, 6091 ; and Samuel L.
Howe, 310. In other words, Thompson’s majority over
Miller was 386.°* The Kanesville vote, having been re-
jected by the Clerk of Monroe County, was not ineluded in
the abstract of votes from that county and was therefore
not counted by the Board of Canvassers. If this vote had
been included in the general abstract the vote for the con-
oressional ecandidates would have stood as follows: Daniel
F'. Miller, 6584; William Thompson, 6507; and Samuel L.
Howe, 310. In short, Miller’s majority over Thompson

—

would then have been 77 votes, which would have entitled

him to a seat in Congress.”

THE DISAPPEARANCE OF THE EKANESVILLE POLIL BOOK

The matter of the Kanesville returns, however, did not
end with the refusal of the Clerk of Monroe County to re-
ceive the votes, for there ocecurred an ineident which 1s an

53 For the composition and the funetions of the State Board of Canvassers in
congressional elections in Iowa, see the act of January 24, 1848, providing for
the election of Representatives to Congress.— Laws of Iowa, Extra Session,
1848, pp. 31, 32.

54 Election returns as found in the Archives at Des Moines.

55 ITn order to understand the full scope of this contest it should be mentioned
in this connection that several other returns were later disputed and included in
the congressional investigation. These disputes may be classified under two
heads: first, the rejection of certain alleged legal votes; second, the counting of
certain alleged illegal votes. These disputes do not, however, enter into the
present diseussion and will therefore be postponed for later consideration.
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example of the tactics frequently employed in polities half
a century ago and which was destined to provoke violent
denunciation of the Democrats by the Whig press. This
incident was the disappearance of the Kanesville poll book
on the evening of August 14th — the date of its rejection by
the Clerk of Monroe County.

The facts concerning this episode appear to be as follows.
According to J. C. Hall (the chief agent connected with the
disappearance of the poll book and therefore the principal
witness), some one whose name he protessed to have for-
gotten came to him in the evening after the vote of Monroe
County had been canvassed and told him that the Clerk
would not have anything to do with the Kanesville returns;
that Pickett or the Mormons would get them and keep them
1f something were not done to prevent it; and that the Clerk
““would not consent or dissent from any person’s taking
them’”. Hall replied that if the Clerk would not keep the
returns so that they would be secure from alteration, the
Democrats should have them; that a duplicate had been
retained at Kanesville; and that it would be well to keep
this copy for the purpose of preventing fraud in case of a
contest 1n the congressional election or the senatorial elec-
tion for Monroe and Wapello counties.

It appears further from Hall’s statement that he was
informed ‘‘after dark’’ on the same evening that the re-
turns ‘“had been procured’’, but ‘““how or by whom’’ he did
not know nor did he inquire. He was informed ‘‘subse-
quently’’, he said, that the returns had been placed in his
saddle bags. He did not recollect whether this fact was
communicated to him at Albia, at Ottumwa, or at Agency
City, but he believed it was at Ageney City. At Fairfield he
found a package which he supposed to be the Kanesville
poll book, and he took it to Burlington, where he kept it
‘‘sealed until sometime in the winter of 1849 when some
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person or persons broke the seal’”’. He ‘“never looked at’’

1t or ‘‘In any manner examined’’ it, ‘‘unless it was to com-
pare’’ 1t with the list furnished by Daniel F'. Miller in the
contest; and he gave the poll book to William Thompson in
the spring of 1849, after which time he never saw it again
““until February 1850.7’5¢

A critical review of the facts concerning the disappear-
ance of the Kanesville poll book at once suggests two
questions: (1) What were Hall’s motives in taking charge
of the poll book?; (2) Did Hall have definite knowledge of
the presence of the poll book in his saddle bags before he
left Alb1a? For answers to these questions reliance must
be placed on Hall’s testimony and on his connection with
the congressional election of 1848.

Concerning Hall’s motives in taking possession of the
Kanesville poll book, it may be argued on the one hand that
he had no other purpose 1n view than to prevent fraud by
the Whigs in case they should contest the election. The
Whigs already had in their possession the duplicate poll
book and i1t was only fair that the Democrats should have
the original, which they would have had in their possession
In case 1t had been received by the Clerk of Monroe County.
On the other hand, it may be contended that Hall was
anxious to make way with the poll book in order to prevent
1ts being used if the Whigs should contest Thompson’s
election. Whatever interpretation is placed on Hall’s mo-
tives, two considerations should be kept in mind in render-
ing final judgment. In the first place, Hall as a member of
the party to which Thompson belonged and as Thompson’s
law-partner was possessed of strong partisan zeal for his
election and was determined, as soon as i1t became evident
to him that Miller had won the almost unanimous support

o6 1rf[‘i':~T1I11HH"'»' ol J. U, ”!H i'I'El‘{I"*i I ”u*{.ur Maiscellaneous H:’Jr'rr_’u-"fff-\. 15t

Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, P. Z9.
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of the Mormons, that the Kanesville returns should not be
received. At the same time, he does not appear to have
entertained any serious doubts as to the legality of the
Kanesville organization during the July eampaign when
both Whigs and Democrats were electioneering in this pre-
cinet for the support of the Mormons at the ensuing general
election. In the second place, Hall did not publish the fact
that he had taken the poll book, but kept the book and made
no acknowledgment of having had anvthing to do with it
until after it was aceidentally discovered in February, 1850,
In the meantime, the Kanesville poll book was considered
as lost.

In the light of these considerations. Hall’s connection
with the poll book is subject to censure. If his motives had
been perfectly honorable, why did he permit the people of
lowa to think for over a year and a half that the poll book

had been lost?

Whether or not Hall had any direet personal knowledee
of the manner in which the poll book found 1ts way into his
saddle bags is a matter of speculation. It would seem that
he must have known that he had it in his possession before
he left Albia. It was frequently remarked, after Hall pub-
lished a long letter in March, 1850,5 explaining his connec-
tion with the poll book, ““that if Hall had not found the poll
book when he reached for it into his saddle bags he would
have been the most disappointed man in the State of
Iowa,’?58

NEWSPAPER DISCUSSION OF THE MORMON VOTE

The whole subject of the Mormon vote now became the
theme of the hour. As the facts relating to this topie
reached the various localities of the State, politicians gath-

-

57 This letter is quoted in full below, pp. (5=50.

o8 Statement of Judge C. C. Nourse to the writer.
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ered at taverns, grocery stores, newspaper offices, and on
street-corners to discuss the events connected with the con-
test for the Mormon vote and to pass judgment on the
merits of the case. Farmers hailed one another on the
country roads to exchange news and opinions. The whole
editorial corps of Iowa turned 1ts attention to this subject.
Entire columns 1n the leading newspapers were devoted to
reviews of the ‘““Mormon Vote’’. Speculation and reerimi-
nation were exchanged by party editors. Charges of theft
and bribery were hurled at opposing party leaders. For
weeks and months the controversy continued, until it was
finally settled in the antumn of 1850. FKor years after that
date 1t was frequently called up 1n private conversation®®
and in newspaper editorials.®®

Two weeks after the rejection and disappearance of the
Kanesville returns the editor of the Iowa State Gazette
(Burlington) declared that while he had known for some
time that the Whigs based their hopes upon the Mormon
vote, he did not believe that the Mormons as a body had
intended to interfere 1n an election, in which, because of the
temporary character of their sojourn in Iowa, they had no
real interest or part. He could not say as mueh, however,
for the leaders of the Mormons. ‘‘These men,’’ said the
editor, ‘“we have no hesitation in saying, made a regular
transfer of the Mormon vote to the whigs For A price!”’
The editor then recounted the story of the activities of
Pickett and Orson Hyde, and their negotiations with the
Whig leaders. Hyde was specifically charged with having
written his famous letter and with having sold his influence
to the Whigs in return for a sum of money, which the editor
declared to have been one thousand dollars. ‘‘The fact,
then,’” was the coneclusion, ‘‘is fully established, that to the

59 Statement of Judge C. C. Nourse to the writer.

60 See for example The Weekly Hawk-Eye (Burlington) for September 17,
1R50.
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extent of Hyde’s influence the Mormons of Towa amounting
to thousands in number as they themselves declare — were
not only transferred to the whigs for a price, at the late
election, but, worst of all, like so many cattle, were turned
over to F. H. Warren for instruction How AND WHERE TO
AQT, 492

““The long agony is over’’, was the comment of the Jowa
Democratic Enquirer after reviewing the reasons for the
rejection of the Kanesville returns. ‘‘The whigs bade us
not to erow, until we heard from Pottawattamie! We have
heard from Pottawattamie! Their disgraceful scheme to
overrule the people of Iowa, and to deprive them of their
tree choice, through the ageney of 1500 1llegal votes, bought
for the occasion, is not only exposed, but has signally
FAILED! Will anyone accuse us of injustice, hereafter. when
we declare that the Federal party fear the voice 0f @ FREE
people as destructive of their schemes, and place their only
hope of success, upon MERCHANTABLE voTEs and the COIrTUp-
tion of the ballot box?’’ Finally, in referring to the sudden
disappearance of the Kanesville returns, the editor sarcas-
tically remarked : ‘“The whigs say the locos stole them. The
more probable story is, that the Mormons, themselves, took
the returns back with them — conceluding to suppress the
poll book, as they only agreed to vote to earn the ‘one thou-
sand dollars?,?’62

The Keokuk Dispatch also denounced the Whigs 1n no
uncertain terms for the alleged corrupt bargain with the
Mormon leaders. After quoting Orson Hyde’s letter in full
the editor declared :

This letter was written on the eve of his departure for Washing-
ton, where it is supposed, he was to receive one thousand dollars. a

61 This editorial is quoted from the Iowa Democratic Enquirer ( Blooming-
ton), Vol. I, No. 8, August 26, 1848, which copied it from the JTowa State
Gazette (Burlington) for August 23rd.

62 Jowa Democratic nquirer (Bloomington), Vol. I, No, 8. August 26, 1848,
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part of the consideration. To prove the actual bargain, its stipula-
tions, &c., by witnesses who were present, 1s not to be expected on
such occasions, but no man of ordinary reason will, after reading
that letter, which was read to the multitude, doubt that the corrupt
bargain was made. What must the people of Iowa think of a party
that resorts to such means to gain an advantage — office — over their
friends, neighbors, and brothers? And who, while a eandidate be-
fore the people, becomes the agent for such a purpose?

We look for denunciations, deep and bitter from the whig press,
for the manly refusal by the Clerk to receive and count the fraud-
ulent vote, but we care but little — whigs will be whigs, and sanction
the acts of their political friends, be they good or bad, and demo-
crats are not so lackineg 1in knowledge of their true character as to
be frightened at their fancied discoveries of stupendous frauds.%?

In reply to these charges advanced by the lowa State
(razette and reiterated by the other leading Democratic
journals of the FKirst Congressional Distriet, Fitz Henry
Warren wrote the following open letter which was pub-
lished 1n the Burlington Hawk-Eye on August 31st:

TO THE PUBLIC

In reply to the charges made by the State Gazette of last week, of
an attempted and actual bribery of the leaders of the Mormon
church, whereby the entire vote was cast for the whig ticket at the
late election, I deem 1t my duty to declare the statements made in
that article to be utterly and basely untrue. No draught, letter of
credit, or other evidence of value for one thousand dollars was ever
given by me to Elder Orson Hyde, or to any other member of the
Mormon church. Nor has there been, with the exception of one
hundred and forty dollars, paid at different times to William
Pickett, for the expenses of organizing precinets and general travel-
i]'l}.:' {'Hll']{l}-'. d Hill;ﬂt? dollar l‘l}lill II:\' me, or ‘[}11'1}11}__[‘11 my agency, to
any individual connected with their organization. Nor has Elder
Orson Hyde, in my belief, ever made such an acknowledgment of
nmoney received.

The evidence to sustain the truth of these declarations not being
accessible, 1n consequence of the absence of this gentleman, I can

63 Keokulk Dspateh, Vol. 1, No. 14, August 26, 1848,
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give, at this time, no further endorsement of this absolute and full
demial of the whole matter of the accusation.
K11z HENRY WARREN.
Chawrman of State Executive Commitice 84

This unequivocal denial on the part of Fitz Henry War-
ren was circulated throughout the distriet and constituted
the Whig defense against the Democratic charges of bargain
and corruption.

But this did not daunt the opposition press. 'The editor
of the Keokuk Dispatch, in answer to Warren’s letter, re-
marked insinuatingly that ““Fitz Henry Warren
acknowledges that he paid a certain Mr. Pickett, an in-
flnential Mormon, one hundred and torty dollars for the
expenses of organizing precinets and general travelling out-

2985

lay. Again, a week later, the editor of this same journal
observed that ‘‘if the whigs and Mormons keep on in their
endeavors to prove themselves innocent of the bargain and
sale charged against them, we shall soon arrive at the full
amount of the consideration.”’

In proof of this assertion the editor undertook to present
“*the following items’’ which, he said, had ‘“‘already leaked
out’’ from Whig sources:

Babbitt says that Hyde showed him a draft on Washington

VT Al Loy e e e Rty ) SSCMNNON Sy TS B BORE $1000
Pickett acknowledeed a draft for a Printing establishment. . $1000
Warren said he paid Pickett expenses for organizing pre-

CINCTRR I o i T i P o R el g L $ 140
Warren says he gave Lyons an order for paper and other
DERTOPTA T W A8 A Sl o vl S S w $ 100
+:~_}'24”r!:

64 This letter is quoted from House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session. 31st
Congress, Document No. 47, p. 56.

65 Keokuk Dispatch, Vol. I, No. 16, September 9, 1848,

66 Keokuk Dispatch, Vol. I, No. 17, September 16, 1848.
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These charges were all denied by the Whigs except the
third, which Warren acknowledged in his open letter.

The Whigs also assumed the offensive in this eontroversy.
It appears that Augustus Caesar Dodge took an active part
in the congressional campaign of 1848, using his influence in
favor of William Thompson. It was charged by James G.
Edwards, editor of the Burlington Hawk-Eye, that Dodge
had offered a bribe to secure the Mormon vote for the Demo-
cratic party in the August elections. This charge was re-
iterated by Mr. Howell, the editor of the Des Mownes Valley
Whag.

Dodge, however, emphatically denied the charge. He de-
clared that Edwards and Howell had ‘‘personal and private
oriefs, which they have never had the manliness to attempt
to redress’’ and consequently they ‘‘have ever been my
ready defamers.’”” Dodge thereupon wrote to Pickett and
Babbitt asking them to relieve him of this infamous charge
which they did in letters published in the Weekly Mwners’
Fxpress of Dubuque, one of the leading Democratic organs
in the State.®”

[t should also be mentioned that the Whigs further
charged the Democrats, who had electioneered 1in the
Kanesville precinet during the eampaign, with having used
corrupt means to swing over the Mormon vote. These
charges were likewise met by emphatic denials.

These vigorous allegations and counter denials were fol-
lowed by a heated controversy over the validity of the
Mormon vote. The Democrats contended, of course, that
the vote was illegal and should therefore be rejected. The
reasons advanced in defense of this contention may be
summed up broadly under two general heads: (1) the use

67 See the Weekly Miners” Express (Dubuque), Vol. VIII, No. 5, October 3,
1848. This journal contains an article of two columns from which the above

facts have been taken. Babbitt’s letter was dated August 22nd and Pickett'’s
letter was dated August 24th.
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of bribery and corruption by the Whigs in their effort to
secure the Mormon vote; and (2) the legal organization
of Kanesville into an election precinet by the Board of Clom-
missioners of Monroe County. The Whigs denied the
ralidity of these reasons. arguing that the Kanesville vote
was legal and therefore should be received and included in
the official ecanvass.

But the Whigs did not rest their case in simply defending
the legality of the Mormon vote. They impeached the
political integrity of the Democrats and chal enged their

consistency by reminding them of the following unwelecome
considerations: (1) the organization of Kanesville into an
election precinet by the Board of Commissioners of Monroe
County was a Democratic measure : (2) the Democrats had
entered actively into the campaign for the Mormon vote in
the general election and as long as they were impressed
with the belief that the Mormons would support the Demo
cratic ticket, they raised no question as to the validity of
their ballots; (3) as soon as the Democrats ascertained that
the Mormons would support the Whig ticket they made
strenuous efforts to disfranchise them and throw out their
votes as illegal; (4) if the Kanesville returns were not legal
why did Hall go all the way from Burlington to Albia to

prevent them from being received?: and |

-

o) 1f there was

“"no virtue or vitality’’ in the Kanesville vote why did the
Demoecrats steal the poll book?

“We have no epithets strong enough”’, said the editor of
the Burlington Hawk-Eye, ‘“‘to speak our condemnation of
the poor, miserable trickery and baseness of those loco-
tocos who have been foremost in their attempts to disfran
chise the Mormons, simply because they chose to vote the
whig ticket. These facts . . . . exhibit a conspiracy
to deprive freemen of the right of sufferace [s1e] more
base, more monstrous, more destructive to freedom, and
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more worthy of universal condemnation, than anything yet
recorded even in the history of locofocoism.’’®®

““The (fommissioners of Monroe County, who organized
the Kanesville precinet, we learn, were all Demoecrats’’, ob-
served the editor of the Muscatine Journal. ‘‘The Clerk of
their Court was also a Democrat, and likewise the Sheriff
of that County. The whole matter of this precinet organ-
ization was a Democratic measure from its alpha to its
omeca, and a Democratic delegation was there to show a
fatherly care over the election, and to influence, 1t possible,
its course. But lo, and behold! When the sheep would not
run into the fold which the Democrats had so generously

wolves!

made for them, they called us goats, nay worse
Aliens. Minors, not twenty-one years of age! and had
followed stealing for half a century! Disappointment and
chagrin flew like wild-fire through the country. The Sherift
of Monroe County hurried home with adverse tidings, and
informed the clerk of that county of the desperate condition
of affairs in Pottawattamie, which caused him to come to
the conclusion to reject the returns or poll book, even before
he saw 1t.77%?

The post-election wrangle over the Mormon vote question
therefore falls into two general divisions: (1) the bargain
and corruption controversy; (2) the dispute over the legal-
ity of the Mormon vote. As to the bargain and corruption
controversy, it is difficult, if not altogether impossible, to
pass judgment on the merits of the question. While eircum-
stantial evidence points to the Whigs 1n particular and to
the Democrats in a secondary degree as having employed
questionable means to secure the Mormon vote, positive
evidence to this effect 1s lacking. This fact does not, how-

68 Quoted from the Burlington Hawk-Eye in the Muscatine Journal, Vol. 1,

No. 31. December 8, 1849,

69 Muscatine Journal, Vol. 1, No. 48, _-'&;;ril 6. 1850.
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ever, relieve either party of suspicion. Indeed, if the facts
were known, it is probable that both parties would appear
as guilty of corrupt practices in the eampaign of 1848,
That the Whigs were the chief offenders appears to have
been the belief generally in Iowa at the time. When it is
remembered that charges of election frauds were made by
both the Democrats and the Whigs in the elections of 1846
and 1847,7° and that attempts were made to bribe a member
of the First General Assembly of Towa in connection with
the election of United States Senators in 1846,7* 1t seems
reasonable to conclude that bribery and corruption were
employed in the campaign for the Mormon vote in the con-
gressional election of 1848,

Concerning the legality of the Mormon vote, the leading
arguments ot the Whigs and Democrats have already been
presented. The merits of this controversy will be consid-
ered 1n a review of the majority and minority reports of
the Committee on Elections and of the debate on these re-
ports 1n the House of Representatives. It is sufficient to
state 1n this connection that when the results of the election
were published in the newspapers of the State and the news
of the rejection and disappearance of the Kanesville poll
book became the subject for political gossip, attention was
alled by the Whig journals to the prospect of a contest over
the right of William Thompson to a seat in the House of
Representatives. The editor of the Keokuk Register re-
ferred to the matter of contesting the election in an edi-
torial which appeared on September 28th.72

THE CONTEST TRANSFERRED TO CONGRESS
Several weeks later Daniel F'. Miller went to Washington,

70 See Peterson’s Corrupt Practices Legislation in Iowa in the Towa Applied
History Series, Vol. I, No. 5.

1 See Clark’s History of Senatorial Elections in Iowa, Chapter I.

72 Keokuk Register, Vol. 11, No. 19, September 28, 1849,
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D. C., to consult with the leaders of the Whig party with
reference to contesting the election of William Thompson.

T'his provoked the editor of the Iowa Democratic Enquirer

to remark that ‘“Miller knew he would not have the least
chance of success and that he was simply taking advantagce
of mileage and other expenses which it was customary to
allow contestants.”’”® Nevertheless, it had become appar-
ent that the election of William Thompson was to be con-
tt_*.’*-:tiﬂl,

The Thirty-first Congress convened on December 3, 1849.
This was the Congress that was to enact the Compromise of
1800 — the last great attempt to reconcile the conflicting
interests of the North and South before the final appeal
to arms 1n 1860. The Senate was perhaps the ablest body of
men that ever assembled in Washington. Here appeared
for the last time the great trinmvirate, Clay, Calhoun, and
Webster — the leading figures in American polities for
forty years. The House of Representatives also contained
many prominent men. Among these were Alexander H.
Stephens, Robert Toombs, and Howell Cobb of Georgia,
Horace Mann of Massachusetts, Joshua R. Giddings of
Ohio, David Wilmot and Thaddeus Stevens of Pennsyl-
vania, Preston King of New York, and Shepherd Leffler of
Towa.

The Democrats had a majority in the Senate, but they
did not control a majority in the House. According to the
Congressional Globe this body was composed of 112 Demo-
erats, 105 Whigs, and 13 Free Soilers.”™ From these ficures
it will be seen that the Democrats were stronger than the
Whigs, but the balance of power was held by the Free
Soilers. It was 1nevitable, therefore, that the Democrats

73 Jowa Democratic Enquirer (Bloomington), Vol. II, No. 20, November 24,

1848,

4 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1.
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and the Whigs should spar for every advantage in order to
secure control of the House. The first strugele occurred
over the selection of a Speaker. After a wrangle of three
weeks, during whieh, according to Horace Mann, several
fistic encounters took place, Howell Cobb of (Georgla was
chosen and the organization of the House fell under Demo-
cratic control. Obviously, then, the contested election of
William Thompson was destined to be of more than ordi-
nary interest and concern.

It was on December 31, 1849, that Mr. Baker of Illinois in-
troduced into the House of Representatives Daniel F. Mil-
ler’s memorial contesting the right of William T'hompson
to a seat 1n that body.” This memorial was immediately
referred to the Committee on E

ections which was composed
of the following members: William Strone of Pennsylvania,
chairman, Sampson W. Harris of Alabama, John Van Dyke
of New Jersey, David T. Disney of Ohio, John B. Thompson

*
L

of Kentucky, Isham G. Harris of Tennessee, Edward W.
McGaughey of Indiana, William S. Ashe of North Carolina.
and George R. Andrews of New York.?® The committee
was composed of five Democrats and four Whigs. The
Democratic members were Strong, Disney, Ashe, S. W.
Harris, and I. G. Harris:; while the Whigs were Van Dyke,
MecGaughey, Thompson, and Andrews,”

It should be noted that while the Kanesville vote consti-
tuted the essential issue over which the coneressional elec
tion of 1848 in the First District of Towa was to be contested,
several other returns were later disputed and ineluded in
the congressional investigation. These disputed returns
are to be classified under two general heads: first, the rejec-
tion of certain alleged legal votes: and second, the counting

5 Congressional Globe, 1st Session. 31st Congress, p. 89,

7 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 88.

‘T Congressional Globe. 1st Session, olst Congress, p. 1.
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of certain alleged illegal votes. In order, therefore, to
understand the full secope of the investigation now to be
undertaken by the Committee on Elections in the pending
contest, attention must be given to the specifie eclaims and
counter-claims advanced by the contestants.

THE CLAIMS OF DANIEL F. MILLER

Daniel F. Miller declared the official returns from the
First Congressional Distriet of ITowa to be erroneous in
three particulars, as follows:—

1. The Clerk of the Board of Commissioners of Monroe
County, who was also by law a member of the County Board
of Canvassers, suppressed the vote of Kanesville, a pre-
cinet of Monroe County, and certified a false return of the
votes given. The vote of Kanesville thus suppressed was as
follows: for Daniel F. Miller, 493; for William Thompson,
30. These votes should be added to the number officially
returned.

2. The Board of Canvassers of Polk County counted and
certified forty-two votes for William Thompson and six for
Daniel F. Miller which were cast in Boone Township.
These votes should be deducted from the aggregates of the
official return because Boone Township was placed by the
districting act of February 22, 1847, in the Second Con-
gressional Distriet.

3. The Board of Canvassers of Marion County rejected
seven votes cast for Daniel F. Miller in Pleasant Grove
Township on the ground that the initial of the middle name
had been omitted, though the Christian and surnames had
been given correctly. These seven votes should therefore
be allowed and added to the official returns.”

78 For statements of the allegations of Daniel F. Miller, see the Congressional
Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292; Keport of Committees (House of

Representatives), 1st Session, 31st Congress, Vol. I1I, No. 400, p. 1; and Bart-
lett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 119,
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THE CLAIMS OF WILLIAM THOMPSON

In reply to these allegations, William Thompson pre-
sented the following counter-claims :—

1. The Board of Canvassers of Mahaska County had
rejected the votes of White Oak Township on the ground
that the judges of the election did not certify that they had
been sworn according to the requirements of the laws of
Iowa, although, as a matter of fact, such oath had been ad-
ministered. The votes polled in White Oak Township were
as follows: for William Thompson, 53 ; for Daniel F. Miller.
16. These votes should be allowed and counted.

2. The Board of Canvassers of Appanoose County had
rejected the votes of Chariton Township for the same rea-
sons for which the votes of White Oak Township had been
rejected, whereas in fact the judges of the election in Chari-
ton Township had been sworn. The vote of Chariton Town-
ship was as follows: for William Thompson, 16; for Daniel
K. Miller, 0. This vote also should be added to the official
returns.

3. The Board of Canvassers of Appanoose County had
also rejected the votes of Wells Township for reasons simi-
lar to those assigned in the case of Chariton Township,
although in this case, also, the judges of the election had
been sworn. The Wells Township vote stood: for William
Thompson, 11; for Daniel F. Miller, 3. This vote should
likewise be added to the official returns.

4. The Board of Canvassers of Dallas County had re-
celived and counted fifty-six illegal votes for Daniel F. Mil-
ler. The persons who thus voted were not qualified voters.
under the Constitution and laws of Iowa, in Dallas County.
They were at that time non-residents of the county, and
came, on the day next preceding the election, to the place at
which the election was held, from without the bounds of the
county of Dallas. These fifty-six votes were therefore il-
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legal and consequently should be deducted from the number
returned as having been given to Daniel F. Miller.
0. 'The Kanesville vote, rejected by the Clerk of Monroe
County, should not be allowed and counted in ascertaining
the result of the election for the following reasons: first, the
persons who voted at Kanesville were unnaturalized aliens;
second, they were non-residents of the State of Iowa, tempo-
rarily sojourning there, but having no domicile i1n the State;
third, they had not resided six months in the State nor
twenty days within the county in which they claimed to vote,
as the laws of lowa required; fourth, they were minors;
fifth, the election at Kanesville was not conducted in ac-
cordance with the provisions of the laws of lowa governing
general elections; sixth, under the laws of the State there
was no legally authorized district which warranted the
reception of any votes at Kanesville; and seventh, neither
Kanesville nor the country in which any of those resided
who voted at Kanesville was any part of Monroe County, or
attached to 1t for election purposes, but was a part of an-
other county, and was at least six miles north of Monroe
County.™
PROVISION FOR THE TAKING OF EVIDENCE

The above allegations made by Miller and Thompson,
respectively, were 1mmediately taken up for investigation
by the Committee on Elections, and they indicate at once
both the scope of the inquiry before the committee and the
nature of the evidence to be considered. The committee
continued 1ts deliberations from day to day examining of-
ficial returns and other documents submitted to it for ex-
amination. After spending three weeks in going over the

79 For statements of the counter-allegations of William Thompson see the
Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292; Reports of Committees

(House of Representatives), Ist Session, 31st Congress, Vol. 111, No. 400, pp.
1, 2; and Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, pp. 119,

-
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evidence at hand the committee finally came to the eon-
clusion that it could not pass upon the merits of the contest
without parol evidence. It appears, however, that Congress
had not up to this time passed any law allowing depositions
to be taken in contested elections. In accordance, therefore,
with the practice of the House in previous contested elee-
tions, William Strong, chairman of the Committee on Elee-
'[in]l:-:, ]'i‘I]Hl'tl’.*il to the House of Hi*]:I'{'H{‘Illilti\'i'% 011 .]:lllll:ll‘}‘
23, 1850, the following resolution authorizing the taking of
the testimony of witnesses to be used in the contest of
Daniel F. Miller vs. William Thompson:

Resolved, That the parties to the contested election from the first
Congressional districet of the State of Towa be, and they are hereby,
authorized to take the testimony of such witnesses as either of them
may require, by depositions in conformity with the laws of the State
of lowa in force at the time of taking the testimony, before any
.jlltl;_ff* of Ihl_‘ supremie court, or of the lliHTI‘ii'i courts of h;iil'l State,
who are hereby empowered to take depositions in any part of said
State, or before a clerk or clerks of any ot the distriet courts., or
ht*f{r]'v any IlnT;lI‘}' Illlhlii" or before dlly 'jllHIii’i‘ of the peace of said
State, within the county in which such clerk, or notary publie or
_jtlHTit'i- of the peace may reside: Provided, That notice of the time
and place of taking the depositions shall be given by the party
taking the same to the opposing party, or to his attorney, at least
ten days prior to taking the same, and one day in addition for every
thirty miles travel from the place of taking the depositions to the
place of residence of the person receiving the notice, or to the place
where he may be when notice shall be received h}' him, 1f not re-
cetved at his place of residence: Provided, also, That the parties
may, by agreement in writing, regulate the mode of giving notice:
Provided also, That when such depositions shall have been taken,
they shall, together with the agreements and notice aforesaid. be
sealed np by the officer taking the same, and be directed to the
Speaker of the House.89

The resolution proposed, in short, that there should be a
continuance of the case for an indefinite period of time in

80 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 214.
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order to allow Miller and Thompson to secure the testimony
of witnesses.

The reading of the resolution immediately precipitated a
lively discussion, in the course of which three arguments
were advanced against its adoption. In the first place, it
was declared that the Committee on Elections was already
1n possession of official returns showing that Daniel F.
Miller had a majority of the votes cast in the congressional
election in 1848 and that he was therefore entitled to repre-
sent the IKirst Congressional District of Iowa. In the
second place, the Committee on Elections had assigned no
reason for asking for a continuance of the case, although
the House was entitled to know why the request had been
made. Finally, it was argued that the resolution did not
place any limitation on the time within which the taking of

the depositions was to be completed. Mr. Thompson, it was
contended, wanted delay. He desired that he might remain
1n his seat an indefinite length of time in order that further
testimony might be taken if he chose to take it. The passage
of the resolution, it was argued by the opposition, would
therefore result in interminable delay in the adjudiecation
of the case.

In reply to these arguments it was contended: first, that
the Committee on Klections had not yet entered upon the
trial of the case nor did they contemplate doing so until the
whole evidence should be submitted to them, and that the
committee had in fact determined nothing beyond the ad-
missibility of certain documentary evidence which had been
presented by the contestant; second, that the issue between
the contestant and the sitting member was such that it could
not be determined without parol evidence — the testimony
of witnesses; and third, that it had been impossible for the
parties themselves to determine, or for the committee to
ascertain, what length of time would be required to secure

N e . L &
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the testimony. There were many witnesses to be examined.
They resided in different parts of the State of Towa and at
considerable distances from one another. Some time would
therefore be required, inasmuch as it was necessary for both
of the contesting parties to take depositions. Nor would
such a limitation of time be necessary for the reason that
either party, by giving notice, could compel the depositions
to be taken within the earliest period under the provisions
of the resolution. Neither party had made an application
for a limitation of time. Hence, the committee had pre-
seribed no limitation, thinking it best to leave the time to
the parties themselves, only reserving the power to limit
any abuses which might grow out of their action under this
resolution.®’

After considerable discussion Mr. Schenck (Whig) of
Ohio introduced the following amendment to the resolution
under consideration:

To take into their consideration all such petitions and other mat-
ters touching the election and returns in the case of the seat of
WiLriam TaHOMPSON, of the first districet of Towa. a sitting member
of this House, contested by Miller, and which has been
referred to them; and all papers, evidence, and facts which have
been brought before them in that case, and report as soon as praec-
ticable the state of the case to this House; and if, in the opinion of
the committee, they ought to be further continued for additional
testimony, then that they report the reasons why such continuance

IS necessary.82
This amendment was adopted as was also the resolution
as amended.®? The congressional investigation was there-
11-[1{_-,!1 Hl'lf‘;ll(.’]ll_]{lt] to El”iﬁ:w :\]1”1'1 ;_1]11] r]’[m[]l[_}:-:(_)n f_{; Seclre 1—}“,
testimony of witnesses in ITowa with reference to the dis-
81 For a I‘I-IHJI't. of the R]imr{"hi'ﬁ 01 :'-“:-I'I‘ull:_f'r-‘u resolution of .l::uu:lr‘x' 23rd see the
Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 214-219.

82 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 219,

v . 1 , - - L . ' oo L3 |
83 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 219,
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puted claims of the two parties in the congressional election
of 1848.

THE DISCOVERY OF THE KANESVILLE POLL BOOK

Interest now centered in the aceidental discovery of the
Kanesville poll book which, it will be remembered, disap-
peared on the evening of August 14, 1848, the date of its
rejection by the Clerk of Monroe County. The whereabouts
of this document was kept secret for a year and a half.
During this interval it became the generally accepted belief
that the poll book had been either lost or stolen and de-
stroyed. Then 1t was accidentally discovered just as Daniel
F'. Miller and William Thompson were making preparations
to secure the testimony of witnesses.

It appears that on the evening of February 19, 1850,
Daniel K. Miller went to the law office of Mason, Curtis, and
Rankin in Keokuk. The persons present on that occasion
were Judge Charles Mason, a member of the firm, Daniel F.
Miller, Ver Planck Van Antwerp, and Joseph M. Beck. In
the course of a general conversation the subjeet of the con-
tested election was mentioned, when Mason informed Milier
that he wished him to aceept the service of a notice by
William Thompson to take depositions to be used as evi-
dence 1n the matter of the contested seat. Miller expressed
his willingness to comply with the request, whereupon
Mason produced a bundle of papers which he handed to
Miller. Miller, upon receiving the papers, execlaimed:
‘““Judge Mason, you have made a mistake! You have given
me the poll-books of the Kanesville precinet that Hall
stole.”” Mason extended his hand as if to take them back,
but Miller remarked: ‘“* We will examine them’’, or words to
that effect. These remarks execited the curiosity of Beck
and Van Antwerp, who arose and went over to the table
where Mason and Miller were standing. Miller declared
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the papers he held in his hand to be the Kanesville returns
that had been stolen and asked Mason how he had obtained
them. Mason replied that he came by them honestly, that
there was no impropriety connected with the transaction.
but that he did not feel at liberty to state how it occurred or
where or from whom he had obtained them.

Van Antwerp and Beck both examined the papers with
Miller. Attention was called to the sienatures of the elec-
tion officers, the names of the voters, the number of ballots
cast, and to the fact that the poll book was gotten up in good
Ht}W{h Miller 11H‘Flﬂl]HJIl returned the ]Hill book to Mason
with the remark that he should keep it and let no one else
have 1t, observing further that if he found it in the hands of
any other person he would take it at the peril of his life 3¢

The news of the accidental discovery of the Kanesville
poll book spread rapidly over the State and immediately
revived the indignation which its sudden disappearance had
occasioned among the Whigs a year and a half before. On
February 22nd, a Keokuk correspondent wrote a letter to
J. G. Edwards, editor of the Burlington Hawk-Evye, in whieh
he called attention to the public agitation over the discovery
of the poll book in the following terms:

It 1s now three {1:!}‘}4 since the stolen }'m“ books were discovered,
vet the excitement occasioned by 1it, still continues. Go where you
may, into houses of publie resort, into private habitations or on the
streets, the theme of conversation 1s, the stolen poll books and the
singular means by which they were brought to light. And it is
truly gratifying to hear the sentiments of indignation expressed by
the honest men of all parties against the perpetration of theft.

Most of the citizens here, are not inclined to believe that Judee
Mason was concerned in the original ‘taking’ but they insist that as
he was found in possession of the stolen property, he must, to clear

84 Testimony of Joseph M. Beck and Ver Planck Van Antwerp, printed in
House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No, 47,

pp. 19-21,
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himself, make an exposure of the whole affair. Judge Mason is one
of Thompson’s counsel and attorneys, for the purpose of impeaching
a portion of Miller’s votes, but it is certainly no part of his profes-
sional duties to secrete stolen goods. The attorney may defend the
horse thief when indicted, without censure, but it is no part of his
duties to secrete the stolen horse in his stable.

My own opinion is that Thompson had the stolen books with him
at Washington City, and that when he procured 100 days to take
testimony in, he forwarded them through mail to Judge Mason for
some purpose connected with his defence.

Hall, whose connection with the ‘taking’ has always been strongly
suspected, left this place next morning after the discovery, under
circumstances of suspicion, which induce many to believe that he
fled through fear that Miller might cause him to be arrested.s®

Fispecially bitter was the editor of the Burlington Hawk-
Eye 1in his arraignment of the Democratic leaders who were
implicated 1n the poll book ‘“‘transaction’’. He condemned
the ‘““whole of this transaction, from beginning to end’’, as
‘““most mmfamous’’, as ‘“‘an act which strikes the deadliest
blow at freedom’’, ‘‘destroys the elective franchise, and at
one fell swoop nullifies the boasted blessing of the ballot-
box.”” With these general remarks, the editor addressed
himself 1n particular to Hall and Mason as follows :

Whatever may have been our personal respect for some of those
who are implicated in this transaction, justice and love for our in-
stitutions compel us to denounce them as traitors to the cause of
freedom. If men of high standing in their party can consent to
commit such a shameful moral and political robbery, for the sake of
keeping that party in the majority —so hostile to all correct
notions of free government — they will do no worse, it seems to us,
to go a step farther and rob men of their money, as well as of their
political rights.

85 This letter was printed in the Burlington Hawk-Eye for February 28th,
from which 1t was copied in the Muscatine Journal, Vol. I, No. 43, March 2,
1850. The Keokuk correspondent further went on to relate the manner of the
discovery of the poll book, following which he appended the testimony of Ver
Planck Van Antwerp and Joseph M. Beck to which reference has already been
made. The letter was given wide publicity by the Whig journals.
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They may set up the plea that these votes are 1llegal, but that
does not mend the matter. They thought they were legal, and they
acted as if they thought so. It seems to us too late for them to try
to prove these stolen papers to be valueless. The quo animo, the
intent, must be looked into, and it will be. Mr. Hall. or whoever
stole the papers, may have thought a cute Yankee trick was being
played ; but every legal voter whose name is attached to that record
has the right to arraign the thief and his accomplices before and
atter the fact, as robbers of their rights, which to them were consid-
ered more valuable than money, or any other species of mere
property.

The men engaged in thus robbing the ballot-box of its potency
deserve to be, and should be spurned from their party as deadly
foes to liberty and right. If they are not. they will be dead weights
1o any party who may retain them. Mark that, yve locofocos who are
still inclined to hug Hall, Mason, & Co. to your hosoms. Read the
letter of our correspondent from Keokuk.8¢

Two weeks later Orson Hyde, now editor of the Frontier
Guardian, reprinted the above editorial in a special edition
of that organ under date of March 13th. This was the very
day of the arrival in Kanesville of Judge Kinney and the
attorneys of William Thompson for the purpose of taking
evidence in the contested election. The revival of the dis-
cussion over the poll book and the arrival of these persons
brought from Hyde the following significant remarks :

As the above named persons . . . . are representatives from
the party who stole and secreted our votes, we trust that they will
meet with that kind of letting alone which will prove to them that
we have no fellowship with those who will steal our rights, nor with
their representatives . . . . They will probably find out all
they can, and we shall feel it our duty to help them about as much
as th(*}' 11{-.‘1]'}('*{1 us to find our stolen ]'}nll-]u'}uliﬂ, so as to be even 1n
civility and kindness.

In our public speeches, in our letters, and by every means in our
power, we endeavored to forestall any illegal voter that might at-

86 This editorial was copied in the Frontier Guardian (Kanesville) for March

13, 1850, from which it was copied in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Ses-

sion, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 121.
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tempt to cast a vote; and we believe that we were successtul: at
least we have no knowledge to the contrary.
If our poll books had not been stolen, but treated with respect and

submitted to an honorable examination, we presume that every

citizen here would be willing to afford every facility to this delega-
tion to acquire all the information possible; but, as 1t now 1s, they
cannot complain if we are not the most communicative people 1n
the world.®7

HALL’S LETTER OF DEFENSE
These severe impeachments of the honesty and integrity
of Hall and Mason by the Whig and Mormon editors led
these two gentlemen to write open letters to the public 1n
which they attempted an explanation in justification of their
position. Hall’s letter ran as follows:

KrosavqQua, MarcH 4, 1850.
];11'”!”!'.\' Hf f/!.*f' (I'H:f [1¢ !?."H‘HH{HHH .

SIRS :— Pardon me for imposing upon you the following com-
munication. The recent course pursued by the Whig press 1n rela-
tion to the contested election in the first Congressional District, and
the manner in which they connect my name with the Kanesville poll
books, demands from me a plain statement of facts 1n relation to that
matter. It is well known that the contest depends upon the legality
or purity of that vote, both of which are denied by Mr. Thompson
and his friends. The vote at Kanesville was under a pretended
organization, procured by the efforts of Fitz Henry Warren, Pickett
and others, which Warren admitted in a Card published under his
own name that he had paid Pickett a considerable sum of money.
The asserted nl‘;_{';illizn’tinu was got up in Monroe county about the
first of July, 1848, a hittle more than a month before the election,
and was based upon the supposition that the country was west of
that county. Under this organization an election was said to have
been held, and the poll books returned to the Clerk of Monroe
county on Monday succeeding the election. At the instance of a
number of demoeratic friends I was present when that return was
made, and publicly advised the Clerk of Monroe county. I based
the objection upon the ground that Kanesville was not by any pos-

87 Frontier Guardian (Kanesville) for March 13, 1850, quoted in House Mis-

cellaneous Documents, 1st Session, dlst Congress, Document No. 47, P. 122.
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sible eonstruction within the limits of Monroe county ; that the sup-
posed organization was void, and did not even intend to embrace
any other country than that which lay west of Monroe. The Clerk
publicly announced that he should not receive the return and In a
modest but firm manner informed the hearer that he should not
recelve it, and that he might do with it what he pleased. When this
decision was made I left the office and have never been at it since.—
Understanding durine the day, that the Clerk would have no of-
ficial or unoffictal connection with the poll books, and that it was at
the t]ir:.[}q'm;_j] of dlly person who SAW ]rl‘{l]n'l‘ to POSSESS i?_ I H!if}_{'w!ﬁhw[
to some of Thompson’s friends that, looking to a probable contest
that might arise in relation to the State Senator and member of
Congress, that it was important that it should not be permitted to
2o 1nto the hands of Miller’s friends. My confidence was too much
shaken in the verity and good faith of that election to be willing
to I}l*l'IlliT‘ ( i!' 1t could be pl't*\‘l*nh*lf TIHH the ‘~.'n.'|1n]-= {'\'iilrllt'i* thrll]tl
remain upon one side. After the votes were canvassed and the re-
sult announced, I was informed that the poll book had been pro-
cured by the friends of Thompson,— subsequent to that time if was
placed in my hands and I gave it to Mr. Thompson.

If the Clerk had consented to have received this IH*]] ]HmI{. or held
1t as a record on file in his office, then it never would have been
interrupted. He was, I understand. peremptory in his declaration
that he would have nothing to do with it: and as 1 believed the poll
book was not removed until the votes had been canvassed, I thoueht
then and think still that under the circumstances it was both just
and proper for Thompson’s friends to hold it. The duplicate was
at Kanesville, and could be procured by Miller, and this one would
operate as a check upon any change or fraud that micht he attempt-
ed. One thing was certain, that either the friends of Thompson or
:\li”vl‘ must T;-j]{v {*Im]‘;_n- of Hll* lll_i]l }nmli. f’i*l'h.‘l]sﬁ .\I]'Ht'!"r-i I'I'il*llll.\‘.
had the better right. hecause they brought it there but on the other
side 1t can be asserted with l*l]HHI force that 1f this t'lm'llnlrllf was to
be the subject of a future controversy, and Miller’s friends had the
duplicate, there could be no honest objection interposed to prevent
this from remainine with the other side.

The idea is lately started that the poll book was taken so as to
prevent the vote from being counted, and that Thompson’s certifi-
cate of election was obtained upon this ground. Nothine could he
tarther from the truth. No such thing was the result.— Everyvthing
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would have been as it now is, only Miller’s friends would have had
the poll book in the place of Thompson’s. This was so understood
at the time. The Clerk was assailed for rejecting the vote, and the
whole whig press were full of denunciation. The Democratic press
defended him: and it will be recollected that at the Demoecratic
barbecue held near Eddyville, in the fall of 1848, that Gen. Dodge
called three cheers for Mr. Barber, the Clerk of Monroe county for
his firmness in rejecting the Mormon vote, which was responded to
from the ecrowd by long and loud cheering.

It will also be recollected that immediately after the August
election the whigs went to work to procure an organization of Potta-
wattamie county and the vote at the Presidential election was given
under that subsequent organization. The Monroe county precinct
was immediately abandoned; and subsequent surveys have estab-
lished the fact, beyond controversy, that the Clerk was right in re-
jecting that vote; that it was a nullity, and had no validity in his
county. The evidence which is about to be taken will in my opinion,
prove every word that I have written.

[ am now on my way west to procure the depositions to be used
in this contest.

Yours,
J. C. HALL.S8

MASON'’S LETTER OF DEFENSE

Mason’s letter in explanation of his connection with the
Kanesville poll book appeared about the same time in the
columns of the Keokuk Dispatch, to which 1t had been sent
for publication. After reviewing the circumstances sur-
rounding the rejection of the poll book by the Clerk of
Monroe County, Mason offered the following defense of his
connection with that document:

About two weeks since, a paper which I supposed to be the same
was placed in my hands, as the Attorney in fact, of Mr. Thomson
(sic], and for a legitimate purpose. I shall retain it until that
purpose is accomplished, and shall attach it to the depositions taken
in the contested election case, to be sent therewith to the Speaker of
the U. S. House of Representatives.

88 Towa Democratic Enquirer (Musecatine), Vol. IT, No. 36, March 21, 1850.
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It must be a diseased imagination that can perceive anything
improper in my thus holding and treating that paper. It has long
ceased to be of any value to Mr. Miller. The certificate of election
was received by Mr. Thompson more than a year since, and thus
gave him his seat. When Mr. Miller commenced taking steps to
contest the election, I freely made admissions which enabled him to
use a copy of the Poll Book, instead of the original. He procured
such copy, and is now seen on file at Washington, and answers all
the legitimate purposes of the original Poll Book.

So far as I have had anything to do with this controversy i1t has
only been as Attorney for Mr. Thomson (s1¢]. As such I have
endeavored to conduct it in a perfectly fair, courteous, gentlemanly
manner. It would be far more pleasant if this endeavor could he
reciprocated. But if, from taste, habit, constitutional peculiarity,
or any other cause, others choose to pursue a different course, |
shall not quarrel with them on that account. Every one has in this
respect, a wide latitude of choice which I shall make no effort to
restrict.s9

These two communications were published in the leading
Democratic newspapers of the State as true statements of
the facts in the case and as a complete vindication of Hall
and Mason for the part which they had taken in the poll
book affair. But this did not end the controversy. The
Whigs continued to assail Hall and Mason for their conduet
In stealing and concealing the poll hook, whereupon the
Democrats replied that the Whigs were simply trying to
kick up a dust in order to divert public attention from the
bargain and corruption charge. ‘“We are surprised that
our whig friends should be so eager to stir this matter up,
and drag it before the public’’, observed the editor of the
Lowa Democratic Enquirer. “‘Have they forgotten that the

8 Quoted from the Keokuk Dispatch in the Iowa Democratic Enquirer
(Muscatine), Vol. II, No. 34, March 7, 1850. The Enquirer, after publishing
in full Mason’s letter of explanation, added that ‘‘the discovered Poll Book
could not have the slightest bearing on the contest of Miller and Thompson, as

the former had an attested copy, confessed to by his opponent, before the com-

mittee of Congress,’’
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people are yet a little curious about the dealings of Fitz
Boodle with Mormondom by which the Mormons secured a
printing press’’?%°

THE TAKING OF PAROL EVIDENCE

While the Whigs and Democrats were thus engaged in
bitter controversy over the Kanesville poll book affair,
Daniel F'. Miller and William Thompson, through his attor-
neys, began the taking of parol evidence in Iowa 1n
conformity with the resolution passed by the House of Rep-
resentatives on January 23rd. On February 18th Charles
Mason, attorney for Willham Thompson, addressed to
Daniel F'. Miller the following notice:

You are hereby informed that the purpose of all the testimony
to be taken by me at each of the points indicated by me, in relation
to the contest between us, will be to establish the truth of the allega-
tions contained in my answer to your petition; each and all of which
I shall attempt to prove substantially and fully. In particular, I
shall endeavor to show that you received fifty-five illegal votes in
Boone township, Dallas county. The names of the illegal voters in
that township are contained in the list marked A with which you
are hereby furnished.

Also, that you received four hundred and ninety-three illegal
votes at Kanesville, Pottawattamie county. The list marked B with
which you are herewith furnished, contains the names of the illegal
voters at Kanesville.

I shall endeavor to show that all the persons whose names are
contained in each of the lists above referred to were not qualified to
vote, for the following reasons:

1st. That they had not resided in the county where they offered
to vote for twenty days next preceding the election in August, 1848.

2d. That they had not been inhabitants of the State for six
months next previous to the said election.

3d. That they were not naturalized citizens.

4th. That they were not twenty-one years of age.??

00 Jowa Democratic Enqurer (Muscatine), Vol. 11, No. 36, March 21, 1850.

91 This notice is copied in House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st

Congress, Document No. 47, p. 53.
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It appears that Mason had told Miller to come to his
office in Keokuk to accept the service of this notice. At any
rate Miller appeared the following day — the occasion of
the aceidental discovery of the Kanesville poll book.

oSeveral days later Daniel F. Miller notified William
Thompson through the latter’s attorney, Charles Mason,
that he would take parol evidence before ‘‘competent au-
thority’’ for the purpose of having “‘the same used in the
contested election now pending between you and myself in
the House of Representatives’’, as follows:

Ist. To rebut any proof you may have produced affecting the
legality of the votes cast at Kanesville and in Dallas county at the
August election of 1848.

2d. To show the legality of the votes cast in said places at said
election.

3d. To show that Kanesville precinet was organized by your
political friends to aid you in your election contest against me. and
that your political friends all regarded Kanesville as a legal place
of voting, and the voters there as good voters until after the election
was over; and that after the election was over, and I had beaten you
at that precinct, your political and personal friends stole that Copy
of the Kanesville poll books which had been filed in the elerk’s office
of the board of commissioners of Monroe County, lowa, whereby
the citizens of Kanesville were disfranchised of their electoral rights,
and you secured the certificate of election.

4th. That you had the stolen poll books of said precinet in your
possession at Washington City at the very time I charged you with
1t before the Committee on Elections, and that you afterwards sent
them by mail to Towa to your counsel, Charles Mason. es(., 1In whose
hands I discovered them on the 19th of Kebruary, 1850.92

The above notice was dated at Fort Madison, February
2ord, and was acknowledged three days later by Charles
Mason, acting as attorney for William Thompson.??

62 This notice is {'['ini*il in House Miscellaneous Documents, lst Session, 31st
Congress, Document No. 47, p. 23.
98 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.

47, p. 23.
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The taking of parol evidence covered a period of approx-
imately six weeks, beginning at Keokuk on February 20th
and closing at Dubuque on April 5th.** The attorneys in
charge of taking the depositions of witnesses were Daniel F,
Miller for himself, and Charles Mason, J. C. Hall, and L. E.
Johnson for William Thompson. These men were assisted
by other attorneys at such points as were not easily acces-
sible to the ‘‘attorneys in fact’’. The principal witnesses
examined were S. T. Marshall, George P. Stiles, Joseph M.
Beck, and Ver Plank Van Antwerp at Keokuk on February
20th and 21st, before Jesse B. Browne, Justice of the Peace
tfor Jackson Township in Lee County;® Jonathan Scott,
Isaac Bartlett, and J. F. Stratton at Centerville in Appa-
noose County on March 6th, before J. F. Kinney, Judge of
the Supreme Court of Iowa;® Joseph T. Fales, Josiah H.
Bonney, and James P. Carleton at Iowa City on March 6th,
before the Clerk of the Distriect Court for Johnson Coun-
ty;°" Benjamin Gholson, Sherman Canfield, William M.
Morrow, and Samuel Bressler at Oskaloosa in Mahaska
County on March 8th, 9th, and 11th, betore E. W. Eastman,
Notary Public;? James . Edwards and John W. Webber
at Burlington on March 9th and 11th, before Oliver C.
Wrightman, Clerk of the Distriet Court for Des Moines

94 This statement is based on the parol evidence printed in House Miscel-
laneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47. The number
of days’ notice (ten days) to which the respective parties to the contest were
entitled under the resolution of January 23rd was waived in order that the
taking of parol evidence might proceed without further delay.

95 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 15-21.

96 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
‘.1?, I'rp, ]11“117

97 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Doecument No.
47, pp. 118-120.

98 House Maiscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 94-111.
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County;*® William S. Townsend, James Sloan, and A. P.
Henderson at Traders’ Point in Pottawattamie County on
March 15th, before Judge Kinney;1°° Reuben Oaks, Hiram
Oaks, Even M. Greene, and Orson Hyde, at Kanesville in
Pottawattamie County on March 18th and 19th, before
Judge Kinney;°! Lewis Whitten at Fort Des Moines on
March 29th, before Hoyt Sherman, Clerk of the District
Court for Polk County;°2? and James M. Marsh at Du-
buque on April 5th, before J. P. Van Hagen, Clerk of the
Distriet Court for Dubuque County.10?

Any digest of the evidence thus taken would transcend
the limits of this discussion. It is sufficient to state in this
connection that the investigation consisted of an Inquiry
into the respective claims of Miller and Thompson as pre-
sented by them to the House of Representatives. The
evidence was sealed and transmitted to the Speaker of the
House of Representatives, who, on March 19th°¢ and April
19th,'% laid it before the House, and it was immediately
referred to the Committee on Elections. When the evidence
was all in, William Strong, chairman of the committee.
reported the following resolution on May 15th :

Resolved, that the testimony taken and submitted in the matter

of the contested election in the first congressional distriet of the

99 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session. 31st Congress, Document No
47, pp. 57-62.

100 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No,
47, pp. 63-78.

101 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 31-53.

102 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 117, 118,

103 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 53-55.

104 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 549.

-

105 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. (70.
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State of lowa, be printed for the use of the committee and of the
House. 198

This resolution was read and adopted. Two weeks later
(May 30th) Mr. Schenck of Ohio offered the following
resolution:

Resolved, That the Printer of this House be directed to print the
testimony in the contested-election case pending from the State of
Towa, and furnish the same for the use of this House and the Com-
mittee on Elections, in advance of all other printing.197

No objection being made to the reception of this reso-
lution, the question was put and the resolution adopted,
whereupon Mr. Schenck moved to reconsider the vote and to
lay the motion on the table, which was agreed to.

The evidence as printed appeared as Document No. 47 in
the House Miscellaneous Documents, First Session, Thirty-
first Congress, 1849-1850. Arranged in no systematic or
logical order, the subject-matter of this document may be
classified under three general heads: (1) parol evidence:
the testimony of witnesses; (2) the certified abstracts of
election returns for all the counties in the First Congres-
sional Distriet of Iowa; (3) miscellaneous materials, in-
cluding letters and editorials from the leading newspapers
of lowa during the period under consideration. The writer
has already made frequent reference to this document in the
foregoing pages. Moreover, the report of the Committee on
Eilections was based in part on the evidence therein con-
tained.

THE MAJORITY REPORT

On June 18, 1850, Mr. Strong presented a majority report
from the Committee on Elections to the effect that ¢* William
Thompson 1s entitled to the seat in this House which he now
occuples as the Representative from the first congressional

106 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 996.

107 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1089.
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distriet of Towa’’. Mr. Van Dyke reported the minority
views of the Committee, which were in effect that Daniel F.
Miller was entitled to the seat in question. It was then
voted that these reports should be printed and that their
further consideration should be postponed until June
26th.108

The contest between Miller and Thompson was taken up
for consideration by the House of Representatives on the
appointed day. After the disposition of a few minor mat-
ters, Mr. Van Dyke moved the usual resolution admitting
the contestant to a seat ‘“in the Hall’’ and authorizing him
to address the House during the continuance of the case.
The motion was carried, whereupon Mr. Strong presented
the majority report and Mr. Van Dyke presented the mi-
nority report.’®® The majority report was signed by the
Democratic members of the Committee on Elections
(Strong, Disney, Ashe, S. W. Harris, and I. G. Harris) :
the minority report was signed by the Whig members of the
committee (Van Dyke, MceGaughey, Thompson, and An-
drews). Mr. Strong requested that inasmuch as the reports
had been printed but a day or two, they should be read
before the debate proceeded. The request was granted and
the reports were read, the records showing that the reading
consumed about an hour of time.*'°

The majority report first claimed attention.!’* This re-
port opened with a detailed statement of the various allega-
tions made by Daniel F. Miller and William Thompson,!2

108 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1227,

109 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292,

110 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292.

111 For a complete copy of this report see Reports of Committees (House of
Representatives), 1st Session, 31st Congress, Vol. ITI, No. 400, pp. 1-12. See
also Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834—1865, pp. 118-128.

References will be made in the following pages to Bartlett’s work, which was a
government publication.

112 For a statement of the allegations of Daniel F., Miller and William
Thompson see above, pp. 68-70.
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These allegations were presented at the outset in order that
the House might with less difficulty comprehend the appli-
cation of the testimony submitted. Four of these allega-
tions were briefly dismissed: the third claim of the contest-
ant and the first, second, and third claims of the sitting
member. That 1s to say, the majority report upheld the
claim of the contestant to seven additional votes in Marion
County which had been rejected by the Board of Canvassers
of that county on the ground that the initial of the middle
name had been omitted ;*'® and it also upheld the claims of
the sitting member to the vote of White Oak Township in
Mahaska County!'* and of Chariton and Wells townships in
Appanoose County,''® which had been rejected by the county
boards of canvassers on the ground that the judges of
election in those townships did not certify that they had
been sworn, although as a matter of fact the oath had been
administered to these officials.’® The above claims of the
contestant and the sitting member had been satisfactorily
proved by the evidence submitted and the votes should
therefore be received and counted.

These eclaims having been disposed of, the committee
stated that but three questions remained for consideration:
(1) Should the Kanesville vote be received and counted?:
(2) Should the vote of Boone Township in Polk Countv be
rejected?; and (3) Should the return of the votes of Boone

113 An abstract of the votes in Marion County is given in House Miscellaneous
Docwments, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 30, 85.

114 An abstract of the votes in Mahaska County is given in House Miscel-
laneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp. 84, 105,
110.

115 An abstract of the votes in Appanocose County is given in House Miscel-
laneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No. 47, pp- 27, 116.

116 Testimony of Benjamin Gholson, Sherman Canfield, William M. Morrow.
and Samuel Bressler in House Miscellaneous Documents. 1st Session, 31st Con-
gress, Document No. 47, pp. 94-111. See also testimony of Jonathan Scott,
[saac Bartlett, and J. F. Stratton, pp. 111-117.
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Township in Dallas County be purged of the fifty-six votes
alleged by the sitting member to have been legally received
there?

In discussing these important questions at issue the com-
mittee reminded the House that by the Constitution of the
United States ‘“‘the times, places and manner of holding
elections, and the qualifications of voters’’ were ‘‘left to the
control of the States’’. The elective franchise was a polit-
1eal, not a natural, right and could be exercised only ‘“in the
way, at the time, and at the place’” which might be desic-
nated by law. If by the Constitution and the laws of Towa.
therefore, it were required that electors should vote only 1n
the counties in which they resided and at designated places
1n those counties, it could not be doubted that votes given in
other counties, or at other than the designated places must
be treated as nullities. To deny this was to deny to the
State the power expressly reserved in the Constitution of
the United States to preseribe the place and the manner of
holding the elections — a power essential to the preserva-
tion of the purity of elections.’’” With these general ob-
servations the committee at once proceeded to the consider-
ation of the three important questions now before the
House.

1. The Kanesville Vote. The committee dismissed the
first, second, third, fourth, and fifth objections urged by the

sitting member against the allowance of the Kanesville
vote with the remark that these objections were not sus-
tained by the evidence presented.’”® The qualifications of
voters 1n the State of Iowa as defined by the Constitution of
1846 were six months’ residence in the State on the part of
white male citizens of the United States and twenty days’
residence in the county in which the vote was eclaimed.

117 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865. pp. 120, 121.

118 F'or a statement of these objections see above, oy 7l
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While it was true that to constitute residence within the
constitutional meaning of the term there must be the ‘‘in-
tention to remain’’, such intention was nevertheless ‘‘en-
tirely consistent with a purpose to echange the place of abode
at some future and wmdefinite day.’”’” Actual abode was
‘““prima facie’’ residence. The committee was unable to
perceive anything in the evidence submitted which removed
the presumption that the Kanesville residents were quali-
fied to vote within the limits of the State of lowa.'™ As-
suming, then, that those who voted at Kanesville were
qualified voters, it remained to be considered whether they
had voted at the place preseribed by law.***

The committee, 1n its majority report, thereupon sub-
mitted a statement of the facts concerning the organization
of Kanesville as an election precinet, the refusal of the
(Clerk of Monroe County to receive the returns, and the dis-
appearance of the poll book.

These facts having been presented, the committee began
the argument of the case. The committee wished 1t to be
understood, however, that it did not justify the conduct of
the Clerk of Monroe County or of those who took the poll
book and retained it in their possession. On the contrary, it
condemned such conduet as meriting ‘‘the severest cen-
sure.”” The Clerk had no authority under the laws of lowa
to refuse to receive that which purported to be the return
from an election district. It was his duty to receive the
return and lay it before the legally constituted Board of
(Canvassers, of which he was a member. But the action of
the Clerk in rejecting the Kanesville poll book, ‘‘censurable
though i1t be’’, did not affect the decision of the question
whether the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County
acted with or without legal anthority 1n organizing a town-

119 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 120,

120 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 121,
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ship, appointing judges of the election, and directing a pol
to be opened at Kanesville, and whether the votes there
received could be counted legally in ascertaining the result
of the election in the First Congressional Distriet.12! As a
matter of fact, the committee had found, upon an examina-
tion of the evidence presented, that the Kanesville vote
could not be received and counted, for two reasons : (1) the
Board of Commissioners of Monroe County had no legal
right to appoint the judges of the general election held at
Kanesville on August 7, 1848, nor did it have any right to
authorize the holding of said election: (2) Kanesville was
not as a matter of fact within the territory attached to
Monroe County and under its jurisdiction.

In considering the first objection to the reception of the
Kanesville vote, the committee admitted for the sake of
argument that Kanesville was situated within the country
attached to Monroe County and that those who voted there
were legal residents of that county. Under the Constitution
and laws of Towa all the territory that was attached to any
county was a part of that ecounty and the ecitizens of such
attached territory had the same rights and privileges as the
citizens of the county to which said territory was attached.
The committee was of the opinion, therefore, that the Board
of Commissioners of Monroe County had the power, under
the act of January 21, 1847, to establish townships in the
territory attached to Monroe County. But the power to
establish a township was limited to fixing its boundaries,
giving it a name, and appointing a central place within it for
holding the first township election. They had no authority
to appoint judges. Any persons appointed by them to act as
Jjudges would therefore act, if they acted at all, without
legal sanction. Moreover, the act of June 5, 1845122 Pro-

121 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 122,

122 Laws of Iowa, 1845, pp. 27-30.
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vided that in all township elections, the electors present
should, at their first meeting, elect by ballot three persons
to act as judges of the election, and that at all subsequent
elections the Township Trustees were to act as judges. The
committee concluded therefore, from this view of the case,
that the order of the Board of Commissioners of Monroe
County was ‘“entirely unauthorized’’ and ‘‘in contravention
of the plain provisions of the law.”’

It was argued, however, said the committee, that the
power to appoint judges of the election was vested 1n the

Board of Commissioners by the general election law of

1843, the third section of which provided that the Board of
Commissioners ‘‘shall at their regular annual
session 1n July preceding the general election, where the
counties are not organized into townships, appoint three
capable and discreet persons . . . . to act as judges
of the election, at any election precinet’’. The same section
of this act provided also that ‘‘in all organized townships,
the trustees of said townships’’ were to ‘‘act as judges of
all elections held under the provisions of this aet.””'?3 It
was obvious, therefore, that the appointment of judges, for
which provision was made in this act, could be only for
election precincts as distinguished from fownships.

This conclusion was rendered inevitable by reference to
the act of June 5, 1845, which devolved upon the electors in
each township the duty of electing judges at the first elec-
tion. The act of January 21, 1847, authorized the Boards
of Commissioners of counties to which unorganized counties
were attached to lay out townships in these attached
counties. If unorganized country was not considered as
part of the county proper and subject to division, then the
Board of Commissioners of Monroe County had no right to
establish a township 1n the attached country, and the power

123 Revised Statutes of the Territory of Iowa, 1842-1843, pp. 244-256.
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)

to create election ;H‘f"f‘fi?r’“(:-: there and to El[ll)uill'[ jll{]}.{'t":ﬁ was
vested 1n them under the general election law of 1843. But
the act of January 21, 1847, included all attached country.
The Board of Commissioners of Monroe County so under-
stood 1t. Their order establishing a township, fixing its
boundaries, and designating Kanesville as the place of hold-
ing the election indicated that they had acted under the law
of 1847 and not under the law of 1843. The committee,
therefore, again emphasized its conclusion that the appoint-
ment of the judges of the election in that township was
unauthorized by law and that the judges thus appointed
could not legally act.

But even if this conclusion were not correct, argued the
committee, neither the act of January 21, 1847, nor the
order of the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County
warranted any other than a towmnship election, as distin-
guished from a general election. The duties of the Com-
missioners were declared in the act to be preliminary to the
first township election. By the laws of Towa all township
elections were to be held on the first Monday in April of
each year. Hence, any election in the new township thus
established was unwarranted until the first Monday of
April, 1849124

The committee urged, however, that there was a more
serious objection to the reception of the Kanesville vote :
Kanesville was not, as a matter of faect, situated within the
territory attached to Monroe County, and consequently was
not under 1its jurisdiction. The evidence which had been
submitted established conclusively the fact that Kanesville
was at least six miles north of any part of Monroe County
and 1n a district which had never been attached to that
county for election or any other purposes. This had been

124 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 18341865, pp. 122, 123.
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proved by the statement of Charles Mason,'?® which was
admitted by the contestant as evidence,'*® and by the testi-
mony of John W. Webber!?” and Jonathan K. Stratton.*®
It had also been admitted by the contestant'*® that a ma-
jority of those who voted at Kanesville in August, 1848,
resided north of a line running due west from the northern
boundary line of Monroe County. In other words, they re-
sided in the territory which had been attached to Mahaska
County and consequently they could vote only in Mahaska
County. The committee asked, in view of these facts, how
it could be claimed that the Kanesville votes could be legally

counted except in plain violation of the constitutional pro-
vision restricting the right to vote to the county in which
the elector was a resident. The committee then referred to
the fact that in many of the States the right to vote was
confined by law to the ward or township in which the elector
resided and that even under this more stringent regulation,
votes cast in other wards or townships had been uniformly
adjudged 1llegal.*®°

125 For Mason’s statement. see House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session,
31st Congress, Document No. 47, p. 55. Mason’s communication was dated at
Keokuk, February 22, 1850. In this document Mason stated that he and John
W. Webber of Burlington went to Kanesville in November, 1849, for the pur-
pose chiefly of determining the location of that place. He learned from the
surveyor general that the line which divided townships 78 and 79 north had,
under the authority of his office, been run and marked through to the Missouri
River as part of the public surveys. Using this line as a basis for determining
the location of Kanesville, they found that Kanesville was situated ‘‘six miles
and a half farther north than the north line of Monroe county.’’

126 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 99, 96.

127 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 58-62.

128 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 112, 113.

129 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st {--1”11};“'35. Document No.
47, p. 35.

130 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-18635, pp. 123, 124,
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Finally, it was obvious from the foregoing considerations
that the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County had no
more authority to establish an election distriet at Kanes-
ville than they had to establish one within the organized
portion of Mahaska County. The board was one of limited
Jurisdiction. Beyond the preseribed limits of its jurisdie-
tion, its aets were null and void, and consequently neither
gave nor took away any rights. The Kanesville voters
were not disfranchised,'®! for they were not affected by the
order of the Board of Commissioners of Monroe County.
They might have voted as before had Kanesville been prop-
erly organized for election purposes by the Board of Com-
missioners of Mahaska County. The fact that they voted
in the belief that they were legally attached to Monroe
County was immaterial, though it was their misfortune.
Their right to vote was a political right restricted by their
actunal residence and not by what they may have supposed
it to be. The opposite doctrine would convert the constitu-
tional provision into a declaration that the voter should cast
his ballot in the county in which he supposed he resided and
thus make the elective franchise dependent upon his own
conjecture. The vote at Kanesville was therefore illegal
and could not properly be counted.!??

2. The Boone Township Vote in Polk County. The vote
of this township stood: for William Thompson, 42; for
Daniel F. Miller, 6. The contestant claimed that these votes
should be rejected on the ground that Boone Township was
in the Second and not in the First Congressional Distriet.
The majority views of the committee on this question were
as follows:

The State of Iowa was divided into two congressional

131 It was argued by the opposition that the rejection of the Kanesville vote

. = . . " J X o v | " ¥ : " % ‘
would have the effect of disfranchising ‘‘an entire township’’ of legal voters.

132 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 124.
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distriets by the act of February 22, 1847.133 The First
Distriet was declared by this act to include the eounties in
the southern half of the State and all unorganized territory
south of a line running due west from the northwest corner
of Polk County; while the Second Distriet included the
counties in the northern half of the State and all of the un-
organized territory north of the line just deseribed. Polk
County (organized) was in the First District; while Boone
County (unorganized) was in the Second Distriet. By an
act of January 17, 1846, the unorganized counties of Story,
Boone, and Dallas (afterwards organized), and the country
north and west of said counties, were attached to the county
of Polk for revenue, election, and judicial purposes.'®* In
pursuance of this act the Board of Commissioners of Polk
County in 1847 established a township in this attached
country, including all of it, and called it the township of
Boone.’?® The electors resident in this township voted at
the congressional election of 1848 and their votes were re-
turned and counted in Polk County, to which the township
had thus been attached. For all election purposes and
therefore for all the purposes of this investigation, Boone
County or Boone Township was as much a part of Polk
County as was any township within the county proper.®

The Constitution of Towa provided that any country at-
tached to any county for judicial purposes should, unless
otherwise provided for, be considered as forming a part of
sald county for election purposes.’®”™ Unless, therefore, the

138 Laws of Iowa, 1846-1847, p. 84. See also the writer’s article in THE TowA
JOURNAL OF HISTORY AND PoLiTIiCS, Vol. X, pp. 485-487, for a full statement of
the provisions of this act and an accompanying map.

134 Laws of lowa, 1845-1846. pp. 93-95.

135 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 124.

136 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834—1865. pp. 124, 125.

137 Constutution of Iowa (1846), Article XIII, Section 7.— See Shambaugh’s
Documentary Material Relating to the History of Iowa, Vol. I. p. 210.
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vote of Boone Township were received and counted as a
part of Polk County, this constitutional provision became a
nullity and the voters of Boone Township were entirely dis-
tranchised. Their votes eould be received and counted at no
other place. No provision had ever been made for their
voting in any other county than Polk.

But, said the committee, it was areued that the Constitn.
tion of Towa contained also a provision that ‘“no county
shall be divided in forming a congressional. senatorial, or
representative distriet.””'*s That is to say, if Boone ( ounty
was to be considered as forming a part of Polk County, then
a county had been divided in forming a congressional dis-
trict and therefore the districtine act of February 22, 1847,
was to be considered as ]‘i*lit'illifl;-_:' the antecedent act attach-
ill;:‘ Boone to Polk ("nll]lf}'.

To this argument the committee replied that if within the
meaning of the Constitution of Towa the distrieting act did
divide Polk County by separating Boone Township from it,
the act itself was unconstitutional and moperative in so far
as 1t aimed to sever Boone County from the county of whieh,
under the Constitution and laws of Towa, it formed a part.

The committee ventured to state turther, however, that
there was no legitimate reason for the assertion that the
distrieting act of February 22, 1847, had repealed the law of
January 17, 1846, attaching Boone to Polk County. It did
—not purport to repeal any law’’. The true meaning of the
constitutional provision that no county should be divided in
the f{}l'ln;_lﬁnll of a -:*.{11|;_:'1*{*r-':-'i{111:ll distriet had been misinter-
preted. The design of this provision, unquestionably, was
“to guard against the division of the votes of the inhabit-
ants of any county — to provide that all the votes of the
electors of each county should be counted together and

138 Constitution of Towa (1846), Article IV, Section 32— See H!“““I’”“r'-:h‘ﬁ

Docume Hfur".';' Material R !rt{frnf; to thi f!;,ufn.r'lr,f r:f' lowa, Vol. [ . 210,
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certified as an entirety, not in fragments.”” The Board of
(Canvassers of each county was required by law to certify an
abstract of the vote of their county to the Secretary of
State. The abstract thus certified was a record of the entire
vote of the county, including all the territory which was
attached to and part of 1t. That abstract might not be
divided. The purpose of the constitutional provision
‘‘would 11l be answered by severing from the remainder the
votes of a constituent part of Polk county, though only an
adjunet.”” In conclusion, therefore, the committee saw no
satisfactory reason why the vote of Boone Township should
not be counted 1n Polk County and in the First Congres-
sional Distriet.'??

3. The Boone Township Vote in Dallas County. It ap-
peared from the official returns of the election held in that
township 1in August, 1848, that seventy-two votes had been
received and counted.'* The sittine member contended
that fifty-six of these votes were illegal on the ground that
the voters did not reside in Dallas County and consequently
had no right to register their votes there. These fifty-six
votes should therefore be deducted from the certified re-
turns of Dallas County.

The testimony of Reuben Oaks'*! and Hiram Oaks!#2
proved, urged the committee in its majority report, that
these two gentlemen and fifty others went, immediately be-
fore the August election of 1848, from Pottawattamie Coun-
ty (a distance of one hundred and forty miles) to Boone
Township 1in Dallas County, where they voted on the day of

139 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 125.

140 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 92-94.

141 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, pp. 31-35.

142 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, p. 39.
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the election. These persons all came from the Mormon
settlements west of the Nishnabotna River.

Furthermore, the testimony showed the exact places of
residence of thirty-seven of these voters. The residence of
the others had not been proved, though five of them had
been recognized by Reuben Oaks, Hiram Oaks, and E. M.
Greene as having been in the party. The committee inferred
the place of residence of the others from the fact that they
all went in a body from Pottawattamie County; and it was
fair to presume that they all resided in the same neighbor-
hood. Of all the places named at which these persons re-
sided, Harris Grove seemed to have been the place most
distant from Kanesville and the northernmost,

Finally, the testimony proved conclusively that Harris
Grove was at least two miles south of the south line of
Dallas County, and consequently that all the places at which
these persons resided were south of any portion of country
which had been attached to Dallas County for election pur-
poses.’* That 1s to say, Harris Grove and these other
places were not within the country attached to Dallas Coun-
ty, but were in the unorganized territory which had been
attached to Mahaska County, to the south of Dallas, and
hence the persons referred to by Oaks and Greene were
entitled to vote only in Mahaska County.

Why these persons voted in Boone Township of Dallas
County was immaterial. It was important to note, however,
that they went from the vicinity of Kanesville and there-
fore must have known either that that place was not west of
Monroe County or that their places of residence were not
west of Dallas County. But the question to be decided was
how many of these votes should be rejected. More than
fifty men were in the company that went to Dallas County.
Only forty-two, however, had been recognized by Reuben

143 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834—1865, p. 126.
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Oaks, Hiram Oaks, and K. M. Greene. These, it was agreed
by the contestant,’** with the exception of four, voted for
him. It followed, then, that he had received at least thirty-
eight 1llegal votes. The committee was of the opinion that
this number should be deducted from the official number
returned as having voted for Miller.!45

The committee having presented its majority views on all
the questions the consideration of which was necessary to
the adjudication of the case, concluded its report by re-
minding the House that the following considerations had no
relevancy to the actual merits of the controversy: (1) the
conduct of the friends of the parties or even of the parties
themselves; (2) the fact that the electors acted under an
honest though mistaken impression as to their rights; (3)
the fact that the Commissioners of Monroe County were the
political friends of one of the litigants; (4) the fact that the
campaign was conducted by the friends of the candidates
as 1f the election at Kanesville were regular and legal; and
(0) the fact that a majority of the legal voters resident
within the distriet expressed their preference for one of the
candidates. These were matters entirely foreign to a legiti-
mate consideration of the question as to who was entitled to
a seat in Congress from the First Congressional District of
lowa. The House, in judging of the elections of its own
members had no diseretion to exercise. It acted in a judicial
manner ; and the only question to be answered was who had
received a majority of the votes of the electors in the First
District, polled at the time, in the manner, and at the places
presceribed by law, 1S

In final summary of its conclusions, the committee ap-
pended to the majority report the following tabulation as

144 House Miscellaneous Documents, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Document No.
47, p. 92.

145 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 127.

146 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases wn Congress, 1834-1865, p. 127.
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““the correct statement of the votes received hv the sitting
member and the contestant’’:

For For
Election Returns William Thompson Daniel F. Miller
Official abstract as returned. .. ... 6477 6091
Pleasant Grove Township vote in
Marion County ............ 7
White Oak Township, Mahaska
Oy i Ee o s o e rirs o 23 16

Chariton Township, Appanoose
DL o o itec e binatavase ool ol a 16

Wells Township, Appanoose County 11 3
WOTALL oieierei s1oe + srereriae 6557 6117
Illegal vote given to the contestant
in  Boone Township, Dallas
GOTN YIRS ey ap |l L 38
Kinal resultce oo ames 6557 6079

Majority for William Thompson 478147

It was apparent, said the committee, that even if the
Kanesville vote were received and counted, William Thomp-
son would still be 1n the lead, for in that case his vote would
be increased to 6587, while Daniel F. Miller’s vote would
only reach 6572, thus leaving a majority of fifteen votes in
favor of William Thompson. The committee was therefore
of the opinion that William Thompson received a majority
of the votes which were legally polled and was justly entitled
to represent the First District of Iowa in the Thirty-first
Congress. The majority report closed with a resolution to
this effect. 48

THE MINORITY REPORT

The minority report differed from the majority report on
all three of the major questions presented for adjudication.

147 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-18635, p. 127,

148 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 128. See al
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80 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 318t ( ongress, p. lava,
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1. The Kanesuville Vote. The minority urged that this
was a question of much 1mportance. In the first place, it
was not a matter of a few 1llegal votes but one of the admis-
sion or destruction of the vote of an entire township or
precinct — one of the largest in the State. Again, it had
been fully established, as well as admitted, that the persons
voting 1n this precinct had a perfect right to vote in the
First Congressional District and to vote for either the con-
testant or the sitting member. Furthermore, it had not
been pretended that any fraud or unfairness had been prac-
tised by either the voters or the election officers towards any
one, but everything had been done honestly, fairly, and in
good faith, and the persons voting were legal voters in the
district. Finally, in view of these facts and in view of ‘“the
great principles of our institutions which seek to afford to
all eitizens of the Union the right of suffrage’’, it was be-
lieved that the reasons for wholly setting aside the returns
of this precinet ‘‘should be exceedingly strong.’”” The
reasons given were, however, ‘“‘purely technical’’ in their
nature. Although entitled to proper consideration, they
should not, 1n the absence of all improper conduect, destroy
the votes of so large a portion of the citizens of Towa,
‘““whose right to vote in the First Distriet and for either of
the contestants’’ was ‘“unquestioned’’.1#?

The minority then proceeded to review the laws of Iowa
governing the establishment of townships and election pre-
cincts 1n the unorganized counties of the State. Attention
was called 1n particular to the law of February 17, 1842,
providing for the organization of townships,’®™ and the law
of 1843 providing for and regulating general elections.'®?
Under the former act the Boards of Commissioners were

149 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 129,

150 Laws of lowa, 1841-1842, pp. 97-103.
151 Revised Statutes of the Territory of Iowa, 1842-1843, pp. 244-256.

B M el &



e i —

THE MILLER-THOMPSON CONTEST 103

authorized to divide counties into townships, and to appoint
the place where the first meeting of the electors should be
held ; under the latter, these boards were required ‘‘at their
regular sessions in July, preceding the general election,
where the counties are not organized into townships, to
appoint three capable and discreet persons to act as judges
of the election at any election precinet.”” Under the author-
ity of these two laws, argued the minority, the Boards of
Commissioners had ‘“‘always been in the practice and habit,
In the unorganized country, of appointing not only the

Judges of election, but of fixing also the precinet or place

where the election should be held wherever they supposed
the convenience of the voters required it.’’ Furthermore,
it had been found by the evidence presented, that, at their
regular July sessions immediately preceding the general
election of 1848, these Boards of Commissioners had estab-
lished a number of election precinets in unorganized terri-
tory and a number of townships in organized territory and
appointed judges of election ‘“for them all, respectively,’’152
In a similar manner had the election precinet of Kanes-
ville been established by the Board of Commissioners of
Monroe County. Kanesville was situated one hundred and
twenty-five miles west of Monroe County, in a wild, un-
surveyed country. But everybody supposed it was located
within the country attached to Monroe County for election
and other purposes. There had not at that time, however,
been any lines run fixing the boundaries of counties in that
part of the State and therefore no one could locate such
boundaries with precision.'®
It had been shown, however, by surveys made since the
election of 1848, that Kanesville lay some five or six miles
north of the north line of Monroe County. The question
162 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, pp. 129, 130.
153 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 130,
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that at once presented itself was whether this fact should
‘‘annul the whole election’”. In answering this question it
was to be borne in mind: (1) that all the persons voting had
a right to vote at some place for either of the two eandi-
dates; (2) that it was not a question of conflicting juris-
dietion between two adjacent counties, for no such question

had arisen; and (3) that the method of voting did the sittine

member no injustice, for if the Kanesville votes had been
cast 1n a different county, as he insisted they should have
been, they would have defeated his election if that election
depended upon those votes.!5

But while there was no governmental line run between the
county of Monroe and the county north of it in 1848, the
minority of the committee reminded the House that ¢‘there
was an understood line, a claimed line, an admitted line’’
which ““ran north of Kanesville’’ and acecording to which
the authorities of Monroe County claimed and exercised
Jurisdiction over Kanesville as a part of that county. This
jurisdiction had been assented to by the residents of Kanes-
ville and had never been resisted by the county in which
Kanesville was now alleged to be situated. Although it had
recently been determined that Kanesville was situated
north of a line drawn due west from the northwest corner
of Monroe County, it was nevertheless to be borne in mind
that up to that time, there had never been any settlement of
the question such as to overthrow or shake the jurisdiction
which Monroe County had exercised over Kanesville. In
the light of these facts, therefore, the minority contended
that the exercise of such jurisdietion had not been abso-
lutely void.1%°

Again, 1t was argued that neither the contestant nor any
of his friends could be charged with any unfairness in this

154 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834—1863. p. 130.

1556 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in f_'fu"rﬂ'f g8, 1834-1865. PP. 130, 131.
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matter. The members of the Board of Commissioners of
Monroe County were all the political friends of the sitting
member; a majority of the election officials at Kanesville
were also his political friends; a number of his influential
friends went a long distance to Kanesville prior to the
election on an electioneering eampaign in his behalf: the
Sheriff of Monroe County, a political friend of Thompson,
was likewise at Kanesville and voted there on election day.
On the other hand, it appeared that while the contestant,
Daniel F. Miller, had political friends at Kanesville, neither
he nor any of his friends from a distance ever visited Kanes-
ville at or before the election for political purposes. More-
over, no tll'l('*Hiii{'Hl ]liltl ever been I‘Elir-:fnl };}' a1y one :lL:'HiI]HI
the correctness of the proceedings until after the election:
and the balloting had been conducted and the poll book kept
with more than usual care and regularity.®¢

After reciting the history of the Kanesville poll book the
minority stated its opinion that ‘‘under all the ecircum-
stances of the case’’ the Kanesville vote should be received
and counted.’®7

2. T'he Boone 'f'mrn.whi;; Vote in Polk (’HHH:’IU. The mi-
nority argued that the Boone Township vote in Polk County
should be rejected for the following reasons: (1) Boone
Township (ecounty) was in reality situated in the Second
Congressional Distriet and all persons voting in this town-
ship were actually residents of the Second Congressional
District at the time of voting; (2) by an act of Congress,
approved on June 25, 1842,% every State entitled to more
than one representative was required to be divided into
congressional districts — each distriet to eleet one Repre-
sentative; and (3) by an act passed by the General As-

150 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 131.

157 Bartlett’s Contested FElection Cases in Conagress, 1834—-158065, PP- 131, 132

158 United States Statutes at Large, Vol. V, p. 491,
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sembly of Iowa and approved on February 22, 1847,15° the
State was divided into two congressional distriets. In the
opinion of the committee, Congress, in passing the act pro-
viding for the district election of Representatives, did not
intend that the inhabitants of one district should vote in an-
other. Nor was it to be supposed that the General Assembly
of lowa 1n running a line across the State intended to say
that, after all, that line meant nothing and that the inhab-
itants of one distriect when voting for Representatives in
Congress might vote in the other district. If such a prin-
ciple were permitted to prevail it would have the effect of
destroying the whole distriet system.%°

Again, 1t was contended that if the construction insisted
upon by the sitting member were correct it would carry the
votes of half of the Second Distriet into the First Distriet,
for the same law which attached Boone County to Polk
County for election and other purposes also attached to
Polk County the counties of Story and Dallas and all the
country lying north and west of these counties. The voters
of all that section would therefore have the same right to
have their votes counted in the First District as those resi-
dent and voting 1n the township of Boone. Such a prineciple
was not in accordance with the true intent of the law. Inas-
much, then, as the voters in Boone Township were in reality
residents of the Second Congressional Distriet, in whieh, if
anywhere, they had a right to vote for a Representative in
Congress, and sinee, 1n consequence, they certainly had no
right to vote anywhere for either the contestant or the sit-
ting member, the minority of the committee was of the
opinion that the Boone Township vote should be excluded
altogether.®!

159 Laws of Iowa, 18461847, p. 84.

160 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 132.

161 Bartlett’'s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 18341865, pp. 132, 133.
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3. The Boone Township Vote in Dallas County. Men-
tion has already been made of the fact that the country
Ilying directly west of Dallas County had been attached to
that county for election purposes, and that a number of
persons not living within the limits of Dallas County proper,
but living west thereof, voted in Boone Township in that
county. The total number of votes cast was seventy-two, of
which Daniel F. Miller received sixty-two and William
Thompson ten. The sitting member contended that fifty-six
of the votes given to the contestant should be rejected on the
ground that the voters were non-residents of Dallas County
whose actual place of residence was in the country situated
south of a line running due west from the southwestern
corner of Dallas County. That such persons were not legal
voters of Dallas County was conceded in the minority re-
port. The points to be determined were: first, how many of
these persons voted for the contestant; and second, on
which side of the southern boundary line of Dallas County
did they reside. On these points the majority and minority
reports disagreed. %

T'he only evidence as to whom these persons voted for
was to be found in the admission of the contestant. Miller
acknowledged that all the persons recognized by Oaks and
Greene in their testimony voted for him, except four. The
number thus recognized was forty and subtracting four, the
number proved or admitted as having voted for the con-
testant was reduced to thirty-six.*%®

In taking up the second point, namely, the determination
of the actual place of residence of these voters with a view
to ascertaining the legality of their votes, the minority of
the committee insisted in its report that the burden of proof
rested entirely upon the sitting member, for the reason that

162 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, pp. 133, 134.

163 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1860, p. 134.
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since the judges of election had received the votes in ques-
tion as legal votes and the Board of Canvassers had allowed

them, every presumption was in favor of their legality until

the contrary should be fully established. In the second
place, the sitting member had failed to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that the votes thus received and counted
were 1llegal. That is to say, no line had as yet been run
through that section of country where these voters resided,
showing the southern boundary line of Dallas County, and
hence 1t was not possible to prove that these voters resided
outside of the jurisdietion of said county.

Furthermore, an examination of the facts showed that
there were but ten votes which could with any kind of pro-
priety be pronounced illegal. In view of all these facts the
minority of the committee recommended the rejection of
ten votes given to the contestant in Boone Township, Dallas

County.1%*

The other questions submitted to the Committee on
Elections for investigation need not be discussed, for the
minority report was in substantial agreement with the ma-
jority report in the findings. It was conceded that Daniel
F'. Miller was entitled to the seven rejected votes in Marion
County'®® and that the votes which had been given to Wil-
ham T'hompson and Daniel K. Miller respeectively in White
Oak Township of Mahaska County and in Chariton and
Wells townships of Appanoose County, which votes had
been rejected by the Board of Canvassers for technical
reasons, should 1n all cases be allowed.'%®

In final summary, then, the findings presented by the
minority report may be briefly stated as follows:

164 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, pp. 134, 135.

165 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 129,

166 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 133.
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For For
Election Returns William Thompson Daniel F. Miller
Official abstract as returned. ..... 6477 6091
Rejected votes in Marion County. . 7
The Kanesville vote ............ 30 493
White Oak Township, Mahaska
QTN Y Sl Ty 21 2 o s e e SR a5 0 23 16
Chariton Township, Appanoose
O DY, B 5 5 sl ee il o oo 16 0
Wells Township, Appanoose County 11 3
AN e i e ot B 6587 6610
Illegal vote of Boone township in
Polk County ............... 42 6
Illegal vote of Boone township in
Dallas County ............. 0 10
O A R e Y s F 5 42 16
Deducting the 1llezal vote of Boone
township in Polk County and
of Boone township in Dallas
County the final result stood. .6545 6094
Majority for Daniel F. Miller 49

The Illillnl'it}’ ]'f‘*]n'}l'i' was concluded with seven resolutions
recommending the adoption of the above findings.**”

THE VOTE IN THE COMMITTEE
This review of the ]'U[H}I'th of the Committee on Elections
would be incomplete without an analysis of the vote of the
committee on each of the seven propositions submitted by
the claimants to the contested seat 1n Congress. T'he com-
mittee was unanimously in favor of counting the Pleasant
Grove Township vote in Marion County, the White Oak

167 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834—-1869, P. 1395.
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Township vote in Mahaska County, and the Chariton Town-
ship vote in Appanoose County. On the question as to
whether the Wells Township vote in Appanoose County
should be counted the vote of the committee stood eight in
favor and one opposed — Andrews alone voting in the nega-
tive.198

On the three major questions there was not only a dif-

ference of opinion as reflected in the majority and minority |
reports of the committee, but also a difference in the vote
on each of those questions. On the question as to whether

the Kanesville vote should be received the vote stood five in
favor and four opposed.’® All the Whig members favored
the reception of the Kanesville vote, whereas all the Demo-
cratic members opposed it, except Ashe, who voted with the
Whigs. Thus, while the majority report argued against the

reception of the Kanesville vote, a majority of the com-
mittee nevertheless favored its reception. The majority
report overcame this inconsistency, however, by counting in
the Kanesville vote and announcing that even if this vote
were admitted Mr. Thompson would still have a majority of |
fifteen votes.

The Boone Township vote in Polk County was rejected by
the committee by a vote of six to three — S. W. Harris and
L. G. Harris joining with the Whig members in voting in the
affirmative, and Strong, Disney, and Ashe alone voting in
the negative.™ Here again it is to be noted that while the
majority report argued against the rejection of this vote
and indeed did not reject it, the majority of the committee
voted 1n favor of its rejection. Had the majority report re-
Jected the Boone Township vote in Polk County and sub-
tracted 1t from the total number as it did in the case of the

168 Congressional Globe, 1st Session. 31st Congress, p. 1292,

169 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292,

170 Congressional Globe, 1st Session. 31st Congress, p. 1292,
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Kanesville vote, Daniel F. Miller would have had a majority
of 21 votes.

Finally, on the question as to whether the votes in Boone
Township, Dallas County, should be rejected, the vote of the
committee stood six in favor and two opposed — MeGaugh-
ey and Andrews voting in the negative and Thompson not
voting.’™* It will be recalled that the difference between the
majority and minority reports on this question was not as
to whether the votes thus proven illegal should be rejected,
for on this point they agreed, but as to how many of said
votes had actually been proved to be illegal.

It 1s apparent from the foregoing analysis of the votes of
the Committee on Elections that on every one of the ques-
tions presented there had been ‘‘such a decision by a ma-
Jority of the committee as to give the contestant the seat
which he claims.’’'" That this was not, however, the final
judgment of the committee is shown by the vote on the
following resolution appended to the majority report:

Resolved, That William Thompson is entitled to the seat in this
House which he now holds as the representative from the first
congressional district of Towa.173

The vote of the committee stood five to four in favor of
the resolution. It was cast on strictly party lines — the
Democratic members voting in the affirmative and the Whig
members voting in the negative.'™ The contest was now
transferred to the House of HPIil‘i'st*lltilt'i\'iw for final de-
c1sion.

THE DEBATE IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

The debate in the House occupied four days, beginning on
Wednesday, June 26th, and closing on Saturday, June 29th.

171 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1292,

172 Bartlett’s Contested Election Cases in Congress, 1834-1865, p. 129,
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'he speeches in defense of the majority report were deliv-
ered by Strong,'”® Disney,'"® and 1. G. Harris7 of the Com-
mittee on Klections and by MeDonald of Indiana,'™ Leffler
of Iowa,'™ and Thompson of Pennsylvania.’®® The speech-
es against the report were delivered by Van Dyke,!s!
Ashe,’®® Thompson,'** and MeGaughey®* of the Committee
on Klections, and by Evans of Maryland®®® and Toombs of
Georgia.'s®

While this four days’ debate was conducted with much
ability and some show of feeling on both sides a brief out-
lime will be sufficient, since nothing essentially new was con-
tributed to the facts and arguments presented in the
majority and minority reports of the Committee on Elec-
tions.

Mr. Strong opened the debate in favor of the adoption of
the majority report. He wished to call attention to two
important considerations which must be constantly borne in
mind, namely, that this was a judicial investigation in which
the House could not exercise any diseretion or prejudice,
and that the contest must be decided according to the laws
of Towa,187

175 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st ( ongress, pp. 1292-1294; 1310.

176 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, Appendix, pp. 782, 783.

|

177 Congresswonal Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1301.
178 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1294-1296.

179 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1301, 1302; Appendix,
li}i_ 818-8923

150 {'f.-.rr_fﬁ'r ssronal l‘_'r'fuhr, 1st Hlif-;*-;ii_!n‘ 31st 1|u]l;‘_{']‘t"r~'}¢, PP. 1:';”'[;. 1307.

181 f1urrlr,'.r‘f_\:.\'."f’m’frf l_";'fnh.f_, 1'-.1‘ H{‘HH}H!I, *‘:Iht I'u!]}_{']‘i'ﬂ*'—:‘ ]lI’u_ ]:';HT. -]:;H";.

182 Congressional Globe, 1st Session. 31st Congress, p. 1303.

183 f_'u.rr:-f."f ssronal f:'fnfu, Ist Session, 31st ['1'=II;:!'I’HH. p. 1294,

184 lf_mu.raxr;r{ ssironal ff!nfn_, |st Session, 31st [11!Ii£l'f"_’-'-b-?_ pp. 1299-1301.

185 Congressional Globe, 1st Session. 31st Congress, pp. 1302, 1308.

186 Congressional Globe, 1st Nession, 31st Congress, p. 1307.

157 flfh'rlr,.'.f'r\',\'J.:‘J_n_'Hf (zlobe. 1st Session, olst (Congress, p. 1293. The greater ]lilrf
of Strong’s speech was devoted to an examination of “‘the testimony that was
:El-]-]it'.‘ilr]i* to HH" case,’’
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)

Mr. Thompson of Tennessee, who was one of the minority
members of the Committee on Elections, arened in sub-
stance that if the votes 1n the committee on the seven [}HiHIH
involved in the case were to be considered then it would be
found that Miller was entitled to a seat in the House. And
yet the majority had come to ‘“‘a perfeect non-sequifer, a
most lame and illogical conclusion’’. Especially did he op-

r

pose the rejection of the Kanesville vote. ““The strained

quibble about the place of voting,’’ he declared, ‘“micht do
In a contest about the return, or the richt to a seat in Par-
[tlament under the old rotten-borough English system. A
tortfeasor or trespasser might at law cavil about the locus
m quo, or a felon stickle about the venue of an alibi: but in
the face of manifest right, to eripple the elective franchise.
and against all equity to stifle and drown the voice of Kanes-
ville, 1s surely undemocratic, anti-republican, against the
former decisions of this House, and against manifest
raght;’ 2488

T'he permitting of party feeling to enter into the decision
of cases of this kind was lamented by Mr. MeDonald (Demo-
crat) of Indiana. He argued for the acceptance of the
Boone Township vote in Polk County, and pointed out the
iInconsistency of the minority in insisting upon the counting
of the votes of the Kanesville precinet, which was north of
Monroe County, and at the same time acquiescing in the re-
jection of the votes in Dallas County which ecame from the
country south of the southern line of that county. He de-
clared that the Mormons at Kanesville had no right to vote.
since they were ‘‘“mere wanderers in search of a home?’’, and
that the organization of the Kanesville precinet was not the
work of the Democrats, but was managed by the Whigs
under the leadership of Fitz Henry Warren and ‘“paid for
out of the funds of the Whig central committee of Towa?’’.15°

188 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1294.

159 f:'r.mr;rr.wu‘;u“f {,'fr:hf_, st Session, 31st '['1.-[1:,_1J'l.'.‘-~".-~‘+ Pp. 1294-1296,
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The ablest speech of the entire debate was delivered by
Mr. McGaughey of Indiana, who spoke against the majority
report. He pointed out the diserepancies between the votes
in the Committee on Elections on the seven points decided
and the final report of the majority, which presented the
‘‘singular anomaly of men agreeing i1n a result, and dis-
agreeing about the very facts necessary to produce that
result.”” In fact, he said, the real minority report had been
given under the caption of a majority report; while the real
majority report had been termed a minority report. This
was an important consideration because many members of
the House were accustomed to inquire simply ‘‘which way
the majority of the committee having charge of the subject
have decided it, and then go with that majority, without
further investigation.”’

Turning to the Kanesville poll book episode, Mr. Mec-
Gaughey contended that the responsibility for this trans-
action should be placed, not on the Clerk of Monroe County,
but on J. C. Hall for fraudulently taking the poll book and
on William Thompson for keeping it in his possession and
concealing 1t, when he knew that it had been stolen, from the
spring of 1849 to the spring of 1850. Even if Thompson
had been fairly elected, said the speaker, his conduct with
reference to the Kanesville poll book made it ‘‘the duty of
every honorable man, on this floor, to expel him.”” Thomp-
son should have returned the poll book to the Clerk imme-
diately.

Coming now to the essential issues in the contest, Mr.
McGaughey presented the following argument which consti-
tutes the strongest defense of accepting the Kanesville
returns and the Boone Township vote in Dallas County that
was offered during the course of the controversy:

Now 1n order to give these Iowa laws a proper construction, we
must look to the circumstances under which they were enacted, the

-l -
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condition of the country at the time, and the objeets intended to be
accomplished. The eastern part of the State had been first settled.
and organized into counties, and there was also a large tract of
country lying west of those organized counties, of more than a
hundred and fifty miles in width, and extending north and south
along the entire western side of the State : this country was an entire
wilderness, unsurveyed, and but few settlements scattered through
it. In order to bring these sparse settlements under the legal juris-
diction of the State, and confer upon them also the rights of
citizenship, laws were passed attaching to the organized counties.
all the territory lying west of them for election, revenue. and
Judicial purposes. The Legislature must have known, when they
passed those laws, that there was no means of knowing exactly and
certainly the location of settlements one hundred and fifty miles
west, 1n a wilderness without roads, and unsurveyed : and hence the
Legislature could not have designed that in elections the people
should lose their right of voting because the county court should. in
organizing a precinct, or township, make a slight mistake, and
organize a precinct a few miles, or a half mile, north or south of a
line running due west from either side of the county. The Legis-
lature must have foreseen, that if their laws were to have a rigid
and technical construction, that the laws would be rendered totally
inoperative. All the people on the Missouri river, within fi tty miles
of Kanesville, seem by the evidence to have been honestly mistaken
as to what counties they were west of, and the county court of
Monroe county labored under a like mistake, supposing Kanesville
to lie west of Monroe county. But it seems that when the Govern-
ment came to run out its township lines, 1t was ascertained for the
first time that all were a little mistaken. The Legislature must. as
I said before, have foreseen that just such mistakes would oceur.
In view of these facts, I hold that the only way to make these laws
operative and effectual, to carry out the object for which they were
passed, 1s to give them a liberal construction; and by all means this
ought to be done in favor of a people in the exercise of their elective
franchise — a right so inestimably dear to freemen. Upon these
prineiples, therefore, I hold that the Kanesville vote ought to be
recelived and counted, and for the same reasons also the vote in
Boone township, in Dallas county, should be received.

The one remaining question was whether or not the Boone
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Township vote in Polk County should be counted. This
question Mr. MecGaughey answered in the negative by elab-
orating on the argument advanced in the minority report to
the effect that Boone County belonged in the Second Con-
oressional Distriet.19

Mr. Shepherd Leffler of Iowa delivered a speech of consid-
erable length 1n which he went out of his way to discuss the
character and history of the Mormons, and to say muech that
was both irrelevant and unwarranted. Aside from this his
speech was merely a repetition of the arguments in support
of the majority report.*?!

Mr. Ashe explained that he had voted in committee in
favor of receiving the Kanesville returns because the voters
believed that Kanesville lay due west of Monroe County.
The error was not discovered until later, and the Kanesville
voters were not responsible for this error but rather the
Board of Commissioners of Monroe County who had ad-
mitted Kanesville into that county for election purposes.
He stated that there was evidence before the committee to
the effect that the Kanesville people had been taxed under
the jurisdiction of Monroe County and that they had paid
their taxes. Kanesville, therefore, was as much a part of
Monroe County for election purposes as for revenue pur-
poses.

Mr. Ashe also contended that the Boone Township vote in
Polk County should be counted, inasmuch as the voters in
this township had been compelled to bear the burden of tax-
ation 1n Polk County. But in conclusion, acecording to the
reporter, Mr. Ashe ‘“went over the lists of votes, and after
making such changes as are necessary to shape it to the
resolutions reported by the majority of the Committee on

190 Congressiwonal Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1299-1301.

191 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1301, 1302; Appendix,
pp. 818—-823.,
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elections, he made it appear by the result that the sitting
member was elected by a majority of thirteen.’’192

An elaborate speech in favor of the minority report was
made by Mr. Toombs of Georgia, who, a few years later, was
the champion of James Harlan in his contest for a seat as
United States Senator from Iowa. He was ‘““opposed to the
rejection of the vote of any eitizen because the voter had not
deposited his vote under or over a given line,’’193

No sooner had Toombs concluded his appeal than Mr. Van
Dyke, who had been waiting for a favorable opportunity,
made a motion to amend the resolution reported by Mr.
Strong for the majority of the Committee on Eleetions to
the effect that William Thompson was entitled to his seat.
Mr. Van Dyke proposed to amend this resolution by striking
out everything after the word ‘“Resolved’” and inserting in
lieu thereof the seven resolutions offered in the minority
report, together with an additional one:

1. Resolved, That the seven votes cast at Pleasant Grove, with
the middle letter of the contestant’s name omitted, be allowed and
counted for him.

2. Resolved, That the vote cast at Kanesville be allowed and
counted as a legal vote.

3. Resolved, That the vote cast at White Oak be counted and
allowed as a legal vote.

4. Resolved, That the vote cast at Chariton be allowed and
counted as a legal vote.

9. [Resolved, That the vote cast in Wells township be allowed
and counted as a legal vote.

6. Resolved, That the vote cast in the township of Boone, in the
county of l’n]]{., in the second 1|iH1}'il'T, be disallowed and deducted
from the votes counted for the first district.

7. Resolved, That the votes cast 1n the county of Dallas, by
persons proved to have been residing at the time south of the

Fa'lr_}’l.l“li_*]‘l_‘s' line of I)ill]il,‘-‘,, be ]'l“ji‘['ti‘ll and disallowed.

192 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1303.

193 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, P. 1307,
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8. Resolved, That Daniel F. Miller 1s entitled to a seat in this
House as the Representative from the first congressional distriet of
[owa.194

Mr. Van Dyke thereupon spoke in defense of his amend-
ment, following, in the main, the arguments set forth in the
minority report and paying special attention to the Kanes-
ville vote. ‘‘Suppose a line had been run’’, he said, ‘“from
the northwest corner of Monroe county due west to the
Missouri river, and that had been found wrong: if it had
been marked by metes and bounds, and all had understood
1t at the time as correct, and if afterwards 1t should have
turned out — after the election — to be wrong, would you
say that all the votes and aects, during the continuance of
this error, should be all invalid? The county of Monroe
claimed jurisdiction over Kanesville, and exereised it.’’1%°

At the conclusion of this speech Mr. Burt of South Caro-
lina moved the previous question. Mr. Strong then arose to
claim his right to close the debate on the motion which he
had introduced, and there ensued a parliamentary wrangle
concerning this point. Finally, however, Mr. Strong gained
the floor'?® and spoke at considerable length in support of
the adoption of the original resolution of the majority re-
port. In conclusion, he called upon the House ‘“‘to decide
this question according to the principles upon which, as a
judiecial tribunal, they were bound to adjudicate all such
cases, without traveling beyond the bounds preseribed by
the Constitution, without conferring rights which the State
Constitution of Iowa did not give, for they could not give
rights which her constitution denied without a palpable vio-
lation of the Constitution of the United States.’’1%7

194 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1307, 1311.
195 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1307, 1308.
196 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1308, 1310,

, pp. 1310, 1311,

197 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress
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THE FINAL VOTE ON THE CONTESTED ELECTION

The previous question having been moved and sustained
and the debate concluded, the question now before the House
was on the adoption of the eight amendatory resolutions
proposed by Mr. Van Dyke'®® to the original resolution re-
ported by Mr. Strong. The vote on the question was an-
nounced as follows: 1n favor of the amendatory resolutions,
95; opposed, 94.'%* The Speaker thereupon voted in the
negative and so the amendatory resolutions proposed by
Mr. Van Dyke were rejected as a whole by the vote of the
Speaker, and Daniel F. Miller was excluded from the seat
thus contested.?®

The question now recurred upon the adoption of the
original resolution reported by Mr. Strong.. After consid-
erable filibustering on the part of the Democrats, in the
midst of which great confusion and excitement prevailed,
the question was finally taken and decided 1n the negative
as follows: 1in favor of the I‘t*:»-:{.)llltinll, 94 ; U]l[}UH(‘IL 102.
Thus the resolution proposed by Mr. Strong was likewise
rejected and it was decided that William Thompson was not
entitled to the seat contested by Daniel F'. Miller.?°

Mr. McGaughey thereupon introduced the following reso-
lution:

Resolved, That a vacancy exists in this House from the first con-
gressional district of the State of [owa, and that the Speaker be
requested to notify the Governor of said State thereof.202

After considerable discussion as to the necessity of such
a resolution the question was taken and the resolution was
adopted by a vote of 109 to 84.2°°

198 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1311.
109 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1311.
200 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1311.
201 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1311, 1312, 1315.
202 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1315.
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208 Congressional Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, pp. 1315-1317.
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Following this action Mr. Van Dyke offered a resolution
providing for the payment of the expenses of the contest
and the mileage and per diem expenses of Mr. Miller. The
reception of the resolution was objected to by Mr. Jones
(Democrat) of Tennessee and it was rejected, whereupon
the House adjourned.2°4

Thus did the House of Representatives declare, that in
view of the evidence presented, neither Daniel F. Miller nor
Wilhham Thompson was entitled to a seat in Congress and
that a vacancy existed in the office of Congressman from the
First Distriet of Towa. Or, in other words, the House of
Representatives acknowledged its incompetence to pass
upon the merits of the contest and so referred the whole
matter back again to the people of Towa.

THE SPECIAL CONGRESSIONAL ELECTION

““Congress has sent Thompson and myself back to run
our election over. I will speak in Keokuk this day two
weeks.”’**®  Thus ran Daniel F. Miller’s laconic dispatch

from Washington informing his constituents of the final
action taken by the House of Representatives.

The receipt of this news at once evoked bitter comment
from the leading party editors in the First Congressional
District. The editor of the Burlington Hawk-Eye made the
simple comment that ‘‘The First Congressional Distriet in
this state is now unrepresented.”’2°¢ ¢“Well, who ‘unrepre-
sented’ 1t at this important erisis?’’ asked the Towa Capital
Reporter. ‘“Answer: Ninety-five as highhanded and vil-
lilanous whig votes as were ever cast in Congress.”’27 To
this statement the editor of the Muscatine Journal replied :
“If ‘ninety-five highhanded and villainous Whig votes’

204 Congresswonal Globe, 1st Session, 31st Congress, p. 1317.

205 Muscatine Journal, Vol. 11, No. 6, July 6, 1850.
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could do all the above, how many poll books will the Locos
have to steal this time to have the distriet ;‘r;u'r.w-'uh'r/
agamn?’’ ‘““After Thompson holding his seat for seven
months,’’ continued the editor, ‘“the wise Locofocos of the
House of Representatives have come to the conelusion that
nobody was elected in the first Congressional distriet. Al
though the House has decided against Miller. to whom the
seat righttully belongs, the people will no doubt elect him by
a triumphant majority, and make the poll book thieves look
more sheepish than did Judge Mason when the stolen poll
books were found in his pocket.’’208

While the party editors thus revived the bitterness of
nearly two years earlier, the regular congressional cam-
paign and election of 1850 was held. With this out of the
way, the attention of the people was directed to the coming
special election. In accordance with the power vested in
him by the act of January 24, 1848, providing for the elec-

tion of Rt*]n‘t.*:-wltt;lii\'i_*r-: in Congress,*"? Governor Briges
1ssued a proclamation directing a special election to be held
on September 24th for the purpose of filling the vacaney in
the office of Congressman from the First District.2® Notice
of this election was dispatched to the several counties in the
distriet and the political machinery of the respective parties
was again put into operation for the brief though spirited
contest which was to ensue.

In the meantime William Thompson returned to Towa and
addressed the following letter to his constituents:

In August, 1848, during my absence, you elected me to represent
you 1n the present Congress by an official majority of 386 votes and
by a real majority of the legally qualified votes cast at that election
of over 470: but notwithstandine this a combination of the whie

208 Muscatine Journal, Vol, 11, No. 8, July 20, 1850.

209 For a copy of this act see the writer’s article in THE IowA JOURNAL OF
HisTory AND PoriTics, Vol. X, pp. 501, 502,

210 The Burlington Tri-weekly Telegraph, Vol, 1, No. 39, September 5, 1850
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members of Congress with the ultra free soilers on the one hand
and the ultra southern members on the other, in direct opposition to
the Constitution and laws of your State, and 1n violation of the
authority vested in them by the Constitution of the United States,
succeeded in vacating the seat. This high-handed and flagrant act
has deprived you of a representation in Congress at one of the most
eritical periods of our government a period when, not only the inter-
ests of your own State and distriet require attention, but when the
greatest questions of the nation are at issue and the perpetuity of
our glorious Union itself, menaced and in danger.

The present session of Congress will, doubtless, be brought to a
close before another election ean be held for the purpose of supply-
ing the vacancy, but it is important that it should be filled by the
commencement of the next session and for this purpose a special
election will be ordered.

It has now been more than two years since you, by our time-
honored and well approved usages, placed my name before the
public as a candidate and will, very soon, be two years since you
paid me the distinguished compliment of an election. Since that
time many and important changes have taken place, both in our
own State and the whole country. Our population has greatly in-
creased and our wants have multiplied; our improvements have
progressed and our donations have been curtailed and erippled.
While the old landmarks of party politics remain unchanged and
immutable, pointing with certainty the line which divides the broad
principles of justice and equality from that marrow policy which
seeks the aggrandizement of the monied few at the expense and
degradation of the laborious masses, by means of special legislation
granting special privileges and such general legislation as gives
money and capital undue advantages over labor, and opens all pos-
sible avenues for convinous and Galphinous speculation; many new
and momentous questions have recently been raised upon measures,
in some instances, of a sectional and ephemeral character, and, in
others, for the purpose of effecting objects in a new, different and
disguised manner. In addition to the old questions of Bank, Tariff,
Distribution, Sub-Treasury, Special Privileges and Non-Interfer-
ence, we now have the President’s Plan, Doty’s Plan, the Clay Com-
promise, the Missouri Compromise and the Peacable Dissolution of
the Union, together with all other projects for the settlement of
existing difficulties which may have been entertained and advocated
during the present Congress.

e e & -
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In this state of affairs I think it my duty — having been nomi-
nated at a time when a special election could not have been con-
templated — to request you to call a convention as early as
practicable, or take such other measures as may be deemed most
advisedly to select a suitable person to be run as a eandidate at the
special election to fill the vacancy.

It 1s desirable that you should have a candidate who can. at once.
concentrate your entire support, substantially reflect your senti-
ments and maintain your best interests; and I know of no means so
well adapted to the procurement of such an one, as a convention.

With the sincere assurance that I have no desire for the nomina-
tion, unless it may be thought necessary and proper to promote the
best interests of the democratic party, and that I shall exert myself
as an elector, to the extent of my ability, as zealously in the main-
tenance of our principles as if I were your standard citizen.

I am, your fellow citizen,
Wwm. THOMPSON.

Mt. Pleasant, July 20, 1850.211

The Whigs held no convention. It was understood that
Miller would again be a candidate and so it was agreed that
he should be the nominee of the party, without the formal
action of a convention. In other words, Daniel F. Miller
was re-nominated by common consent.*!?

The Democratic Convention was held at Ottumwa on
September 5th.2'®* No record of the proceedings of this
convention has been found, but it appears that William
Thompson was the only candidate really considered for the
nomination. Delazon Smith seems to have been the only
one who contested the nomination with him. But Smith had
already ‘““proclaimed himself as an independent candidate’’
and had ‘“‘gotten into a fuss generally with his party’’, and
so was ‘‘treated as not one of them.’”” Thompson was there-
fore nominated by the unanimous vote of the convention.?

211 The Towa Star (Fort Des Moines), Vol. I, No. 44, August 1, 1850,

212 The Burlington Tri-weekly Telegraph, Vol. I, No. 39, September 5, 1850.

218 The Burlington Tri-weekly Telegraph, Vol. I, No. 39, September 5, 1850.
214 The Burlington Tri-weekly Telegraph, Vol. I, No. 39, September 5, 1850.
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Delazon Smith was a Democrat in polities, but becoming

dissatisfied with the course of the Democratic party in lowa
and not being in sympathy with Thompson’s candidacy for
the office from whieh he had just been excluded, he deter-
mined to bolt the party at this erisis and become a candidate
for the office for which Miller and Thompson were both
again to be contestants. Whether Smith entertained seri-
ously the thought that he really stood a good chance for
election to Congress, or simply hoped to draw enough votes
from the Democrats to defeat Thompson and elect Miller
can not be judged with any degree of certainty. But what-
ever his real motives were, Smith’s entrance into the field
as an 1independent candidate was the cause of considerable
anxiety to the Democrats.

Delazon Smith was, as a matter of faet, an astute political
manager, an orator of exceptional ability, and a man of pre-
possessing personality.?'®> Some idea of his ability and
influence may be gained from the fact that he was Thomp-
son’s eompetitor for the Democratic nomination for Con-
gress 1n 1848, and that after figuring prominently in Iowa
polities 1n these early years, he emigrated to Oregon where
in 1857 he was elected a delegate to the convention which
adopted the Oregon Constitution and in 1859 was elected as
one of the first United States Senators from that State.?'®

Smith’s independent candidacy for Congress at this
juncture was well summed up by the editor of the Muscatine
Journal as follows:

The above-named gentleman, generally known as— ‘‘Delusion
Smith’’, or the “‘lost Tyler Man,’’ is ereating quite an uproar in the
household of the faithful. He has been living on ‘‘hope deferred”™
long enough, and has announced himself as an independent Demo-
cratic candidate for Congress, in the First District. The election to
fill the vacancy occasioned by the ejection of Thompson from the

215 Statement of Judge C, (', Nourse to the writer.

216 _f”,-.',{;f,\.' l'}.lll“ }frr.l'.r.? ir]_‘}jj]‘ql :"‘;1"'"1[1_-5 L ‘%‘Hl. ]1'. Il_ ”.,rl
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seat which he acquired by fraud and theft, is, according to the
proclamation of Gov. Briggs, to take place on the 24th day of
September, 1850. David [Daniel] F. Miller will be the Whig candi-
date ;— 1t 1s supposed that Thompson will receive the locofoco nomi-
nation. Smith, knowing the dissatisfaction which exists among the
1{}{'{13 1n reference to 'l‘|1ur11|1:-;nll, has [‘Hll{'llll!l’ll 1]1;11 there will be d
chance for him — has entered the field and 1s now engaged In
stumping the District. As a man of talent, he 1s far 1in advance of
Thompson, and, indeed, as a stump orator, the Liocos have no man
in their ranks that will equal him.217

The triangular campaign which followed, though short,
was nevertheless an exciting one. A number of speeches
were delivered by Delazon Smith. The party editors re-
newed the already familiar lines of attack and ridiculed the
independent candidacy of Smith. No special incidents, how-
ever, marked the campaign. As the day of election ap-
proached there was mueh speculation as to the outcome.
[t was freely predicted that Miller would win.

The election was held on September 24th. I'he vote, as
announced officially from Towa City by the Board of Can-
vassers, stood as follows: Daniel F'. Miller, 5463; Willham
Thompson, 4801 ; Delazon Smith, 365; and scattering, 24.
Miller therefore had a majority of 662 votes over T'hompson
and was elected to represent the First Congressional Dis-
trict of Towa in the Second Session of the Thirty-first Con-
oress. Miller carried thirteen of the twenty-one counties in
the district while Thompson carried the remaining eight.
Pottawattamie County (now organized) gave Miller 273
votes and Thompson 56. Smith’s candidacy did not affect
the general result, for even if the vote given to him be added
to the vote received by Thompson, Miller would still have
a majority over Thompson of 297 votes. The following
table gives the vote by counties for Miller and Thompson
and the third party candidate in both the regular congres-

217 Muscatine Journal, Vol, IT, No. 15, August 31, 1850.
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sional election of 1848 and the special congressional election
of 1850:

REGULAR CONGRESSIONAL ELECTION SPECIAL (ONGRESSIONAL ELECTION :
OF 1848 OF 1850 |
|
|
-
e - : Z Z
- O = 3 B - O ; =
COUNTIES o o e = B 3 e BHrs S5 =
5 53 Bo =iz 3 2 > -
= O Z & AT - O S <
= < = < . < = — o = ©
- B 8 = n 3 0 & B - a 7
Appanoose ....... 113 67 0 119 153 3 0
Dallas ......c00.. 22 K8 0 38 33 2 0
IYRVIS o s s oy e e 432 363 0 273 203 34 0
Decatur ......... 4() 53 () 0
remont: il oo i 34 22 0 0
Henry/ . - eaiewien s 483 662 0 674 339 0 0
JRASPOY: | Litawisrarcarery 49 69 0 77 64 1 3 |
Joilerson = s i . D8 710 9 531 514 2 1 |
Keokuk .......... 347 266 0 171 229 7 14 1
FH00] (e o te BleTEe S 1460 1264 110 1213 1067 17 0
Lucas .......... 29 40 0 0
MadiSon - cioeieiev 36 D2 () 0
Mahaska, .. ..wees 362 397 0 356 306 13 0
Marion .......... 298 20T 0 149 192 2 1
Monroe: ... ....... 72 149 () 118 196 6 ()
O ] s 300 237 0 193 220 0 0
Pottawattamie ... 273 56 2 0
Poweshiek ....... 22 27 0 37 22 0 0
yvan Buren:... ... 1028 976 55 656 496 241 o
Wapello ......... 631 009 1 22 483 39 0
NV ETYERE e oveonta s 24 11 0 0
Total ............6477 6091 310 5463 4801 365 24218
f

The election returns were slow in coming in, and it was
several weeks before the result was officially declared. The
announcement that Miller was elected evoked from the edi-
tor of the Keokuk Register the following comment: ‘‘Let
662 be the handwriting on the wall, to strike terror to the
hearts of Poll-book thieves in all time to come when they
shall present themselves for the suffrages of an honest
people.””?1®  Other Whig editors expressed themselves in

218 Election returns as found in the Archives at Des Moines.

219 Quoted from the Keokuk Register in the Muscatine Journal, Vol. II, No.
29, November 16, 1850,
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similar fashion. The Democratic editors had nothing to
say.

Immediately after the official announcement, Daniel F.
Miller hastened to Washington. On December 20th he pre-
sented his certificate of election duly certified by the
Governor of Towa and was admitted to his seat in the
House. Thus ended the most famous contested congres-
sional election case in the history of Iowa and one of the
most famous in the history of the nation.

Louis B. ScaMipT
THE IowA STATE COLLEGE OF
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